### LAC-DHS Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Plan 2006-2010

Intimate Partner Violence
Prevention Strategic Planning
Coalition &
Injury and Violence Prevention
Program



Los Angeles County Department of Health Services

### Los Angeles County Department of Health Services

### IPV Prevention Five-Year Strategic Plan

Prepared by: Sung Hye Yu, Ph.D. Gale Feldman, M.P.H.

### **Table of Contents**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS1
ABBREVIATIONS KEY3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY4
BACKGROUND10
OVERVIEW: INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE
MISSION AND VISION STATEMENTS15
MISSION STATEMENT
FUNDAMENTAL VALUES AND BELIEFS16
INITIAL KEY CRITICAL ISSUES17
SCREENING/ IDENTIFICATION OF INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE
INTERNAL ASSESSMENT OF DHS HEALTHCARE FACILITIES20
SURVEY DEVELOPMENT
GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES26
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #1: DHS POLICY ON INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE27

CEY STRATEGIC AREA #2: IPV POLICY IMPLEMENTATION AND SYSTEMS IMPROVEMENT	
STRATEGIES	29
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #3: SCREENING & IDENTIFICATION	32
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #4: INTERVENTION & TREATMENT	33
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #5: RESOURCES & REFERRALS	
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #6: REPORTING AND LAW ENFORCEMENT	
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #7: COLLABORATION AND DATA COLLECTION	
KEY STRATEGIC AREA #8: TRAINING	
MPLEMENTATION PLAN TIMELINE	44
POST SCRIPT	48
001 00141 1	
APPENDIX A: STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS	50
APPENDIX A. STRATEGIC FLAMMING PROCESS	00
APPENDIX B: LEGISLATION-CALIFORNIA PENAL CODE SECTION 11160	<u>54</u>
APPENDIX C: SURVEYS	57
ADMINISTRATIVE SURVEY	57
STAFF SURVEY	
APPENDIX D: SURVEY ANALYSIS	70
APPENDIA D. SURVET ANALISIS	1 U
APPENDIX E: SWOT ANALYSIS	<u>82</u>

### Acknowledgements

### INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE PREVENTION STRATEGIC PLANNING Los Angles County Department of Health Services

Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP)
Michelle T. Parra, Ph.D
Director

Sung Hye Yu, Ph.D Project Coordinator

Special thanks is extended to Dr. Jonathan Fielding for his support and commitment for this project

Appreciation is extended to Billie Weiss, former IVPP Director, for her vision, support and involvement throughout the planning process

Thanks to the following IVPP staff who assisted with data entry and other logistics

Victoria Cervantes Fabiola Chavez Tegra Jackson Katie Martin Voncille McKinney (Former IVPP Acting Director)

We would like to acknowledge Gale Feldman, consultant to this project. Her expertise, skills, vitality and creativity were invaluable to the success of this project.

We would also like to acknowledge the following members who played a crucial role in developing the IPV Strategic Plan for LAC-DHS. Without their continued support, commitment, and dedication, this project would not have been possible.

### **External Advisory Group**

Ab'dul-Mu'min, Jah'Shams

Violence Prevention Coalition of Greater LA

Booth, Pam Bowman, Alana Los Angeles District Attorney
Los Angeles City Attorney

Bourque, Linda Ph.D

UCLA Soiourn

Butler, Pat Chun Estelle

Asian Pacific American Legal Center

Chun, Estelle Earl. Karen

Jenesse Center

Friedman, Cathy Guerrero, Adriana LA Commission on Assault Against Women

Interval House

Hanson, Ron Hazlett, Sheila Holt, Susan

Kress, Steve Sergeant

Laviolette, Alyce Lind. Mimi

Martinez, Maria Detective McCarty, Terence Lt Nelms, Dexter Sergeant Nicolaison, Lief Captiain

Rodriguez, Ana

Rodriguez, Michael M.D.

Sakamoto-Kowalchuk, Yasuko

Salazar, Natalie Siebel, Liza

Shulman, Edie

Spears, Janisa Splawn, Robert M.D. Warf, Curren M.D.

Weiss, Billie Welsing, Andrea

Wie, Sharon

Zupa, Rachael

Offices of Zev Yaroslavsky – Third District Health Deputy

Los Angeles County Domestic Violence Council

LA Gay and Lesbian Center Pasadena Police Department

Alternative to Violence Venice Family Clinic

Los Angeles Police Department Los Angeles Sheriff Department Torrance Police Department Glendale Police Department

Planned Parenthood

**UCLA** 

Little Tokyo Service Center Los Angeles Sheriff Department

Break the Cycle

Inter-Agency Council on Child Abuse and Neglect

Project Peacemakers California Medical Center Children's Hospital Los Angeles

UCLA Injury Prevention Research Center

Collaborative for Alternatives to Violence & Abuse

Interval House

California Hospital Medical Center

### Los Angeles County, Department of Health Services: Internal Working Group

Service Planning Area (SPA) 3 & 4 Belden, Jennifer Curtis Tucker Health Center, PHN Bell, Kendra

Central Health Center Public Health CHS, SPA4 Bendana, Nancie High Desert Hospital, Assistant Administrator Brooks, Beryl

Denmon, Lee SPA 1 & 2, PHI Supervisor

Office of AIDS Program, Program Manager Edwards, Shirlisa PHN Administrator, Assistant Nursing Director Egnozzi, Thelma Office Of Women's Health. Director

Eidem, Ellen

Epstein, Marsha MD Medical Director- SPA 8 Child Abuse Prevention Program

Guine. Sandra Whittier Health Center- SPA 7, PHN Supervisor Huber, Janet

Johnson, Stephanie Olive View, Assistant Administrator

Alcohol & Drug Prevention, Program Analyst Martinez, Irene

LAC/USC, LCSW Morahan, Mary E.

Immunization Program, Research Analyst III Nabra, Nidhi

SPA 6, Community Liaison Perkins, Lottie SPA 4, PHN Supervisor Plantilla, Elizabeth

Harbor- UCLA, Director Clinical Social Workers Schneider, Larry STD, Director of Policy, Planning and Program Steinberg, Jane

Development

Harbor-UCLA, Clinical Nurse Educator Straver, Patricia

Rancho Los Amigos Rehab Center, Director Clinical Thompson, Greg

Social Workers

### **Abbreviations Key**

AHO: Area Health Officer

♦ CDC: Center for Disease Control and Prevention

♦ CEO: Chief Executive Officer

EAG: External Advisory Group

♦ EPIC: Epidemiology and Prevention for Injury Control

♦ IPV: Intimate Partner Violence

• IVPP: Injury and Violence Prevention Program

♦ IWG: Internal Working Group

♦ JCAHO: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations

♦ LAC-DHS: Los Angeles County Department of Health Services

♦ LCSW: Licensed Clinical Social Worker

♦ MSW: Masters in Social Work

MyPHD: My Portal Healthcare Data

♦ NCVS: The National Crime Victimization Survey

♦ NVAWS: The National Violence Against Women Survey

♦ OB/GYN: Obstetric and Gynecology

PHI: Public Health Investigator

PHN: Public Health Nurse

♦ SPA: Service Planning Area

♦ STD: Sexually Transmitted Disease

### **Executive Summary**

Intimate partner violence (IPV) is a substantial public health problem for Americans that has reached epidemic proportions. Los Angeles is no exception, with thousands of adults and children impacted by IPV each year. The Los Angeles Police Department alone reported a total of 26,747 domestic violence crimes and the Los Angeles Sheriff Department added a total of 10,132 domestic violence incidents in 2002. According to the California Department of Justice, a total of 181 IPV criminal homicides were committed in California in 2002. Of those 31.5% (N=57) occurred in Los Angeles County, which is higher than the 30% of the state population that resides in the county.

IPV remains largely undetected in the health care setting. Although battered women frequently seek health care, fewer than one in 20 are correctly identified by health care professionals.

To facilitate physicians' intervention on behalf of abused patients, the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO-1992) required that all accredited hospitals implement policies and procedures in their emergency departments and ambulatory care facilities for identifying, treating, and referring victims of abuse. While most states have improved the legal remedies available to IPV victims, California is one of six states – including Colorado, Kentucky, New Hampshire, New Mexico, and Rhode Island- with specific laws for health care providers on reporting suspected cases of IPV. California Penal Code, section 11160 requires that health care professionals report cases for patients whom they suspect are suffering from an IPV-related injury to law enforcement officials, with or without the patient's consent.

The Los Angeles County Department of Health Services (DHS), Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) was awarded a grant from the State Department of Health Services Epidemiology and Prevention for Injury Control (EPIC) Branch to develop a five year strategic plan to address IPV within Los Angeles County DHS.

To facilitate the strategic planning process, the IVPP convened the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition, which consisted of a broad array of service providers, DHS administrators, DHS staff, public health programs, SPAs (service planning areas), community leaders, researchers (UCLA) and community based agencies. The mission of the Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition is to prevent and reduce IPV in Los Angeles County through development of IPV policies, procedures, and protocols for LAC DHS in collaboration with the community agencies of Los Angeles County. Our vision is that all patients within the DHS system are screened, identified, treated, referred and reported for IPV, leading to a safe and healthy environment in Los Angeles County, where all people can live without risk of IPV.

The strategic planning process was initiated in June 2003, and proceeded over the course of eighteen months. The main goal of the strategic planning process was to formulate a five-year comprehensive plan to implement standardized IPV policies and protocols within DHS clinics, health centers and hospitals, including a strategy to assure compliance with mandatory IPV reporting laws. We conducted a survey to assess the DHS healthcare facilities' environment related to IPV practices and policies. Information was collected from 823 staff and 104 administrators and managers.

Based upon the results of the surveys, the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition assessed internal strengths and weaknesses, as well as external opportunities and threats. These data guided us in identifying the eight key strategic areas that would be focused upon in the five-year comprehensive strategic plan to effectively address IPV within DHS healthcare facilities. The eight key strategic areas are:

- ▶ DHS Policy on Intimate Partner Violence
- ▶ IPV Policy Implementation and Systems Improvement Strategies
- ► Screening and Identification
- ▶ Intervention and Treatment
- Resources and Referrals
- ▶ Reporting and Law Enforcement
- ► Collaboration and Data Collection
- ▶ Training

As we are ready to move forward with this plan, we sincerely hope that everyone will support efforts to implement the IPV Prevention Strategic Plan, while actively engaging in on-going violence prevention efforts to make our community a better and a safer place to live.

Table 1 on the following pages provides a summary of the specific priority issues, goals, objectives, and timeframes outlined in the strategic plan.

Table 1: Implementation Plan: Goals and Objectives

Key strategic area	#1 DHS Policy on Intimate	#2 IPV policy implementation & systems improvement strategies	ems improvement strateg	les
When the comment of t				24 . 20000000000000000000000000000000000
Goals	To develop standardized policies,	To ensure that DHS facilities have the intrastructure and guidelines necessary to	nfrastructure and guideline	s necessary to
	procedures and protocols to	implement the IPV policy		
	address IPV within DHS			
	healthcare facilities	Anterson (VIII)	. average phone of manyone and manyone	
Implementation activities	Develop standardized IPV	2.1.IPV policy implementation	2.2. Develop an internal	2.3. MyPHD & DHS
•	policies	The second secon	promotional campaign	web-pages
Objectives	1) By 2006, IVPP will formulate	1) By 2006, IVPP will hire two staff	1) By 2007, IVPP will	1) By 2007, an IPV
	an IPV policy development team	members to assist with the IPV	develop an internal	web page for
	comprised of Internal Working	implementation activities	promotional campaign	MyPHD and the
	Group members to create	2) By 2006, IVPP and the IPV policy	to inform staff on	DHS websites will
	standardized IPV policies for DHS	development team will create	standardized IPV	be completed.
	healthcare facilities	guidelines for monitoring and	policies and procedures	2) By 2008, initiate
	2) By 2006, IVPP and the IPV	evaluating IPV policy implementation	2) By 2008, an internal	on-going
	policy development team will	3) By 2006, IVPP and the IPV policy	promotional campaign	maintenance and
	develop standardized IPV policies	development team will create	will be disseminated to	perform periodic
	for DHS healthcare facilities, by	guidelines to ensure that clinics and	100% of DHS	updates of IPV
	revising and adapting current	community-based organizations in	healthcare facilities to	information on the
	policies from selected DHS	partnership with DHS are in	inform DHS staff on	DHS and MyPHD
	healthcare facilities.	compliance with IPV laws	standardized IPV	websites
	3) By 2007, standardized IPV	4) By 2008, 100% of DHS healthcare	policies and procedures	
	policies will be approved by	facilities will develop their own IPV		
	appropriate DHS command	implementation plans		
	channels and be distributed to	5) By 2008, 100% of DHS healthcare		
	DHS healthcare facilities.	facilities will create IPV Response		
		Teams or designate an IPV staff		
		member(s) to facilitate IPV policy		
		implementation		
		6) By 2010, IVPP will coordinate a		
		process and outcome evaluation of		
		the overall IPV program within DHS		
	- ALL PRINCIPLE AND ADDRESS OF THE PRINCIPLE	AL MONTH PROBLEMS (A. M. MONTH PROBLEMS (A. M.	Additional behinds and the	

## Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Implementation Plan: Goals and Objectives

imple imple coals To en have	•			
	implementation & systems	Identification		
	DOVERNOUS STATES		To checitor In total consone of	coroon positive for IDV will
have	To ensure that DHS facilities	lo ensure mar all paments	10 ensure man am panema who solden positive for it v with	SCIEGII DOSIIIVE IOLII VIVIII
	have the infrastructure and	seen at DHS healthcare	receive appropriate intervention and treatment	n and treatment
guide	guidelines necessary to	facilities are screened by a		
imple	implement the IPV policy	culturally competent		
		healthcare provider, who is		
		trained to identify IPV	THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY O	
Implementation activities 2.4. A	2.4. Advanced technology	IPV screening practices	4.1.Educational materials	4.2.IPV intervention and
				treatment practices
Objectives 1) Bv	1) By 2006. IVPP will	1) By 2006, IPV	1) By 2006, IVPP will	1) By 2010, 90% of DHS
	investigate new advanced	standardized policy will	evaluate, update and	patients who screened
רומפו	lechnologies for screening.	include a recommended IPV	distribute existing IPV	positive for IPV will have
nejeu	referrals, reporting, and data	screening instrument to be	educational materials	lethality assessed and
) <u>e  03</u>	collection	used across DHS healthcare	2) IVPP will continue to be a	documented, injuries
2) Bv	2) Bv 2007, IVPP will assess	facilities	resource for updated IPV	recorded in a body map, and
the fe	the feasibility of utilizing new	2) By 2010, 100% of DHS	educational materials	have a safety plan discussed
techr	technologies within DHS	healthcare facilities will		2) By 2010, 90% of DHS
3) BV	3) Bv 2010, IVPP will re-	routinely provide IPV		patients who screen positive
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	evaluate technology for	screening to patients ages		for IPV will be provided with
SCIE	screening, referrals,	13 and older		resources and referred to
OCOL	reporting and data collection			appropriate agencies for
		and and a state of the state of		follow-up.

# Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning LAC-DHS Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) Implementation Plan: Goals and Objectives

		Implementation Plan: Goals and Objectives	and Objectives	**************************************
Key strategic area	#5 Resources and	#6 Reporting and Law	#7 Collaboration & Data Collection	ollection
	Referrals	Enforcement	***************************************	описантельной в положений в по
Goals	To ensure that IPV	To ensure that all DHS	To ensure prevention of IPV	To ensure prevention of IPV through the collection of data and
	resources are available	healthcare providers	collaboration with internal and external agencies	nd external agencies
	to all DHS healthcare	comply with IPV reporting		
	providers to assist with	laws and collaborate with		
	referral of patients to	local law enforcement		
	appropriate resources	agencies to improve safety		
	and the state of t	outcomes for patients		
		identified with suspected or		
		known IPV	ден и поставления пост	
Implementation	IPV resources and	IPV Reporting and law	7.1.Collaboration	7.2.IPV data collection
activities	referrals	enforcement		
Objectives	1) By 2006, IVPP will	1) By 2006, IVPP will	1) By 2007, IVPP will	1) By 2008, IVPP will develop a data
	identify and update	identify contacts within law	develop a collaborative	collection system to collect IPV data in
	culturally and	enforcement agencies in	plan with DHS internal	DHS healthcare facilities
	linguistically appropriate	LAC to address IPV	program staff and	2) By 2008, each DHS healthcare facility
	resources and referral	2) By 2009, 100% of DHS	community partners on	will appoint an IPV records keeper to
	lists	healthcare facilities will	training, funding, sharing	submit regular quarterly reports to IVPP
	2) By 2008, 100% of	have established contact	of resources and data	3) By 2008, IVPP will train IPV records
	DHS healthcare facilities	with identified law	collection	keepers to submit quarterly IPV reports
	will have culturally and	enforcement personnel in		beginning in 2009 of implementation
	Imguistically appropriate	their jurisdiction by the IPV		4) By 2010, 100% of DHS healthcare
	resources, referral lists,	Response Team or IPV		facilities and IVPP will implement the
,	and IPV prevention and	designated staff		protocols and procedures for data
	intervention literature	3) By 2010, 90% of known		collection as specified in the IPV policy
	easily accessible to all	or suspected IPV cases		5) By 2010, IVPP will investigate the
	DHS patients	within DHS healthcare		feasibility of establishing a countywide
	3) By 2009, 100% of IPV	facilities will be reported to		IPV data collection system, among DHS
	Response Team (or	local law enforcement as		healthcare facilities, non-DHS healthcare
	designated IPV staff) will	mandated by State law,		facilities, and other community agencies.
	initiate contact and	using a standardized form		
	develop a working			
	relationship with			
	community agencies			
PHARMADIAN	Serving IPV	LI SERVINIO	II. I SUL II. III. III. III. III. III. III. III	1. Living and the control of the con

### Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning LAC-DHS Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) Implementation Plan: Goals and Objectives

Kev strategic area	#8 Training
Goals	To provide IPV and sexual violence training to DHS staff to increase staff knowledge and skills in order to
	address and reduce the impact of IPV in Los Angeles County
Implementation activities	IPV Training
Objectives	1) By 2007, IVPP will provide a training curriculum and an evaluation tool to be implemented within DHS
1	2) By 2008, 90% of administrators/managers in each DHS healthcare facility who are mandated in the IPV
	policy will have participated in the IPV and sexual violence training.
	3) By 2010, 90% of DHS staff with direct patient care in each healthcare facility will participate in IPV and
	sexual violence training offered through DHS.
	4) By 2009, 90% of all new DHS staff will participate in IPV and sexual violence training within one year of
	2008,
	6) By 2010, 90% of DHS staff who provides direct patient care, and who completed initial IPV training by
	2008, will attend on-going IPV and sexual violence training.
	de la description de la descri

### Background

### Overview: Intimate Partner Violence

Intimate partner violence (IPV) is a substantial public health problem that has reached epidemic proportions resulting in serious consequences and costs for individuals, families, communities, and society. The National Violence Against Women Survey (NVAWS) reports an estimated 5.3 million IPV victimizations occur among U.S. women ages 18 and older each year and this violence results in nearly 2 million injuries, more than 555,000 of which require medical attention (CDC, 2003). Estimates from the National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS) indicate that approximately 1 million violent crimes are committed annually against persons by their current or former spouses, boyfriends, or girlfriends, with 85% of victims being women. On average, approximately 8 in 1,000 women and 1 in 1,000 men, age 12 or older, experienced a violent victimization perpetrated by a current or former intimate partner.

The health care costs of intimate partner rape, physical assault, and stalking exceed \$5.8 billion each year, nearly \$4.1 billion of which is for direct medical and mental health care service which accounts for more than two-thirds of the total costs (CDC, 2003).

In 2003, there were over 194,000 domestic violence-related calls for assistance to law enforcement in the State of California. Approximately 52,000 of those calls occurred in Los Angeles County. In addition, there were over 48,000 arrests for spousal abuse charges in the state of California in 2003 and of those nearly 13,000 arrests occurred in Los Angeles County.

Medical providers may be the first non-family member to whom an abused woman turns for help; thus, they have a unique opportunity and responsibility to intervene. To facilitate intervention on behalf of abused patients, the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO-1992) has required that all accredited hospitals implement policies and procedures in their emergency departments and ambulatory care facilities for identifying, treating, and referring victims of abuse. The standards require educational programs for hospital staff in domestic violence, as well as elder abuse, child abuse, and sexual assault.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Bachman R, Saltzman LE. Violence against women: estimates from the redesigned survey, Bureau of Justice Statistics, Special Report. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice; August 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Greenfeld L, et al., editors. Violence by intimates: analysis of data on crimes by current or former spouses, boyfriends, and girlfriends. Bureau of Justice Statistics Factbook Washington, DC: US Department of Justice; March 1998. NCJ-167237.

<sup>3</sup> National Crime Victimization Survey, 1992 - 1996

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> American Medical Association

In addition, most states have improved the legal remedies available to battered women, and a number of state health departments have developed protocols for health care providers. While almost all states have laws that require reporting certain injuries, California is one of six states -- including Colorado, Kentucky, New Hampshire, New Mexico, and Rhode Island -- with specific laws on reporting suspected cases of intimate partner violence. Most of these states have provisions for protecting victim identity, obtaining informed consent, or reporting to social service agencies. However, California Penal Code, section 11160 requires that health care professionals report cases when they suspect the patient is suffering from an IPV-related injury to law enforcement officials, with or without the patient's consent. <sup>5</sup>

### Overview: Strategic Planning Background

Until recently, several California counties, including Los Angeles, had not developed standardized policies to ensure compliance with IPV laws. To address this issue, healthcare providers, often in conjunction with advocacy and law enforcement, met in several counties to address how best to comply with IPV laws. They developed protocols, on a county-by-county basis, that attempt to comply in a manner that is ethical and protective of patients, as much as possible, without minimizing the danger and criminal nature of the event. As part of this effort, the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services (DHS), Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) was awarded a grant from the State Department of Health Services Epidemiology and Prevention for Injury Control (EPIC) Branch to develop a strategic plan for implementation of policies and procedures regarding Intimate Partner Violence and compliance with California Penal Code, section 11160.

The strategic planning process was initiated in June 2003, and proceeded over the course of eighteen months. The main goal of the strategic planning process was to formulate a five-year comprehensive plan to implement standardized IPV policies and protocols within the 25 DHS clinics, health centers and hospitals, including a strategy to assure compliance with mandatory IPV reporting laws. The strategic planning process included the following five fundamental phases that allowed for flexibility and creativity, while providing a structured process for developing a comprehensive plan to address IPV with DHS healthcare facilities:

- Phase 1: Plan for Strategic Planning During this phase, agreement was reached on initial critical issues and a detailed "plan for planning" was developed, which included process and procedures for all phases of planning, planning outcomes, activities, responsible personnel and timeframe.
- Phase 2: During phase 2, the planning committee developed a mission and vision statement.

<sup>5</sup> Rodriguez M, et al. Screening and Intervention for Intimate Partner Abuse: Practices and Attitudes of Primary Care Physicians. JAMA. August 1999. 282: 468-474.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Shaping California's Health Policy for Victims of Intimate Partner Violence. Harvard Health Policy Review. Fall 2001: 2:2.

- Phase 3: Assessed the Environment During this phase, appropriate data was collected from the DHS healthcare facilities to provide an explicit understanding of the current IPV practices and protocols and the degree of implementation of these procedures. This information was used to analyze the internal strengths and weaknesses within DHS, and its external opportunities and threats in regard to intimate partner violence
- Phase 4: Agreement on Priorities During phase 4, the planning committee decided on the strategies to address the previously identified issues and established goals and objectives.
- Phase 5: Composed the Strategic Plan During phase 5, the information collected in the previous phases was synthesized into one coherent, consolidated document that will act as a detailed blueprint for action, as DHS implements policies and protocols to address IPV within its healthcare facilities.

The overall purpose of the strategic planning process was to develop a plan to implement standardized policies, procedures and protocols to screen, treat, refer and report intimate partner violence, assuring compliance with the law and to prevent and reduce intimate partner violence, through training, education, and consultation of healthcare providers and staff. The objectives of the strategic planning process were to construct a plan to:

- ▶ Develop protocols to screen, treat, refer, and report victims of IPV in all DHS healthcare facilities.
- ▶ Identify and implement a universal screening tool for victims of intimate partner violence
- ▶ Develop uniform reporting and data collection systems within LAC DHS.
- ▶ Facilitate services and resource linkages to victims of intimate partner violence.
- ▶ Prevent and minimize collateral damage that accompanies IPV.
- ▶ Raise awareness, educate and train LAC DHS healthcare staff about IPV and compliance with the law.

### Overview: Intimate Partner Violence Strategic Planning Coalition

The involvement of key stakeholders leads to an increased level of commitment to the strategic plan's goals and objectives by building a vision that is shared among all participants. In order to involve key stakeholders, the IVPP convened the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition, which contained two main committees consisting of key staff within DHS, community based organizations and community leaders. The External Advisory Group consisted of community-based agencies and community leaders with expertise in intimate partner violence. The External Advisory Group functioned as an oversight committee, assuring that planning efforts were strategically focused while addressing the complexities of developing a plan for IPV within DHS.

The Internal Working Group consisted of administration and staff members from DHS SPAs (service planning areas), hospitals, clinics, and public health programs. The Internal Working Group was responsible for providing leadership, oversight and resources for the project. Members of the Internal Working Group were required to participate in at least one sub-committee, which focused on a specific aspect of the strategic planning process (see Table 2). Both the Internal Working Group and the External Advisory Group ensured that the strategic plan addressed the most important elements of IPV including screening, treatment, referral and reporting.

Table 2 Internal Working Group Sub-Committees

Sub- Committee Name	Description	Time-Frame
Policy Review Sub-Committee	The Policy Review Sub-Committee was responsible for coordinating the collection of DHS facilities' IPV policies, service statistics, organizational charts, resources, and other documents clarifying the organization's mandates, history, and operating trends.	July – September 2003
Mission/ Vision Statement Sub-Committee	The Mission/Vision Statement Sub-Committee was responsible for developing the Mission and Vision Statement for the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition.	September – October 2003
Survey Sub-Committee	The Survey Sub-Committee was responsible for developing the administrator and staff surveys to assess current IPV related policies, procedures and protocols, and to assess ideas for implementation of county-wide policies, procedures, and protocols.	November 2003 – February 2004
Data Collection Sub-Committee	The Data Collection Sub-Committee was responsible for coordinating the assessment of the DHS facilities to evaluate current IPV related policies, procedures and protocols. The Data Collection Sub-Committee provided feedback on the data analysis related to the information collected during the countywide assessment. This sub-committee also assessed current IPV policies within DHS.	March – June 2004
Strategies Sub- Committee	The Strategies Sub-Committee was responsible for choosing the criteria to guide the setting of priorities, and then selected the future overall core strategies so that the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition can achieve its purpose of implementing IPV-prevention policies, procedures, and protocols within DHS facilities.	July – August 2004
Goals and Objectives Sub-Committee	The Goals and Objectives Sub-Committee was responsible for developing overall goals, as well as specific and measurable objectives regarding the implementation of IPV-prevention policies, procedures, and protocols within DHS facilities. The Goals and Objectives Sub-Committee also reviewed IPV strategic plans from other California Counties.	September - November 2004

### Mission and Vision Statements

### Mission Statement

The mission of the Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition is to prevent and reduce intimate partner violence in Los Angeles County through development of IPV policies, procedures, and protocols for LAC DHS in collaboration with the community agencies of Los Angeles County.

### External Vision Statement

A safe and healthy environment in Los Angeles County, where all people can live without risk of intimate partner violence.

### Internal Vision Statement

All clients (ages 13 and older) within the DHS system are screened, identified, treated, referred and reported for IPV.

### Vision of Success

The IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition will be successful in meeting its purpose if implementation of the strategic plan results in the following:

- Raised awareness about intimate partner violence among healthcare providers within LAC DHS.
- Increased knowledge, understanding, and law requirements associated with intimate partner violence for healthcare providers within LAC DHS.
- Decreased economic costs associated with utilization of judicial system, law enforcement and healthcare system.
- Early identification, effective intervention and treatment, and adequate referral services for victims of intimate partner violence.
- Implementation of universal screening for intimate partner violence for all clients within LAC DHS healthcare facilities.
- Promotion of primary prevention of intimate partner violence.
- Reduction in incidence and prevalence of intimate partner violence.
- Healthier, happier and safer families and communities.

### Fundamental Values and Beliefs

Prior to creating the mission and vision statements, the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition identified the fundamental values and beliefs that guide the interactions between planning participants, as well as with the community. The IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition also identified the major assumptions upon which the strategic plan was developed.

### We believe:

- ▶ All people have the right to healthy relationships and safe environments.
- ▶ All people have the right to be free of IPV.
- ▶ All people should feel empowered to live to their full potential without fear of IPV.

### We value:

- ▶ Integrity
- ▶ Collaboration and teamwork
- ▶ Education and knowledge
- ▶ Positive behavioral changes
- ▶ Basic human rights and dignity
- ▶ Empowerment
- ▶ A holistic approach
- ▶ Health, happiness and quality of life

### We assume:

- ▶ There is a need to raise awareness of the domestic violence problem.
- ▶ There is a need for prevention and treatment of IPV.
- ▶ Prevention is possible and that it works.
- ▶ Behavior can be changed.
- ▶ Developed IPV policies, procedures, and protocols will be successfully implemented.
- ▶ All healthcare workers should be educated about domestic violence.
- ▶ We can build and facilitate collaboration among LAC DHS agencies.
- ▶ We can make a difference.

### Initial Key Critical Issues

The Internal Working Group identified five key critical issues that assisted in focusing the strategic planning process. In addition to identifying the issues, the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition identified the potential barriers and benefits of addressing the key critical issues in the five-year comprehensive strategic plan to address IPV within DHS healthcare facilities.

### Screening/ Identification of Intimate Partner Violence

Without an initial IPV screening process, IPV victims would not be identified and prevention strategies could not be applied. Possible barriers to IPV screening include time constraints, cultural issues, personal fear, biases, attitudes and values, and lack of knowledge and information about addressing IPV within a healthcare facility. Requiring universal IPV screening of all DHS patients will result in better identification of suspected or known cases of IPV, allowing an opportunity for intervention and prevention of further harm and injury.

- Only 45% of DHS healthcare facilities reported having a policy to screen for victims of IPV.
- ♦ 21% of administrators/managers were unsure if an IPV screening policy existed in their facility.
- Only 43% of facilities reported that universal screening of men and women was required under the IPV policy.
- Of the administrators/managers working in facilities with Emergency Departments, most felt confident that IPV screening occurred there. However, of the respondents with OB/GYN facilities, 27% did not know if screening occurred in that area, and 44% didn't know if screening occurred in the outpatient department.

### Intervention and Treatment:

Timely intervention and early treatment can reduce the number and severity of injuries, prevent future incidents of IPV and save lives. Possible barriers to effective intervention include a lack of institutional or administrative support and training, insufficient staff, lack of bilingual staff, inadequate system to respond appropriately after identification of IPV, and a poor monitoring system for reinforcement of IPV policies.

33% of administrators/managers reported that their facility did not have a written policy for treating, intervening and referring IPV.

- 23% were unsure if their facility had a written policy addressing protocols for intervention with a patient identified as a victim of IPV.
- 16% of staff members reported that their facility does not have a policy for providing services to victims of IPV, while 29% were unsure if such a policy existed.
- Of the administrators/ managers who responded that their facility has an IPV policy (45%):
  - ▶ 20% of the policies do not describe how to appropriately intervene and treat a victim of IPV.
  - ▶ 35% of the policies do not describe how to document an intervention.
  - ▶ Only 24% of the policies required development of a safety plan.

### Resources and referrals:

Appropriate resources may facilitate the process of breaking the cycle of violence and ensure safety for IPV victims. It may enable IPV victims to further seek what she/he needs to prevent future IPV.

- Of the 400 survey respondents whose facility provided direct services to patients, 39% of DHS staff responded that inadequate resources to help identified IPV victims was a perceived barrier to providing adequate services to victims of IPV.
- Of the administrators/ managers who responded that their facility has an IPV policy (45%), 17% do not describe how to refer victims of IPV.
- ♦ Of the 400 survey respondents whose facility provided direct services to patients:
  - ▶ 65% stated that their facility works with shelters for battered women.
  - ▶ 57% stated that their facility works with counseling service agencies.
  - ▶ 43% stated that their facility works with legal aid service agencies.

### Reporting to Law Enforcements

California Penal Code, section 11160 requires that health care professionals report cases for patients whom they suspect are suffering from an IPV-related injury to law enforcement officials, with or without the patient's consent. However, Los Angeles County DHS has not had a standardized policy to ensure mandatory reporting of IPV patients to law enforcement. Currently, there is not a judicial monitoring system to assess the effectiveness and level of implementation of this law. Other barriers to reporting may include a lack of follow-up system, slow response time, and inadequate level of support and cooperation from law enforcement.

- ♦ 37% of DHS staff were not aware of the standard countywide injury reporting form.
- Only 14% of DHS staff who were aware of the form stated that they have used this form to report IPV to local law enforcement during the past 12 months.
- ♦ 22% (183/823) of the respondents were not sure (or did not answer) if they were a mandated reporter for IPV.
- ♦ 33% (270/823) were not sure (or did not answer) if patient's consent was required to report IPV to law enforcement.
- ♦ 11% (93/823) incorrectly answered that patient's consent was required to report IPV to law enforcement.

### Countywide Data Collection System:

Developing a data collection system is important because the epidemiology of IPV in Los Angeles is not completely known due to incomplete data.

- ♦ 22% (22/104) of administrators/managers stated that their facility collected IPV data. Of these:
  - ▶ 73% collect data on number of IPV cases identified.
  - ▶ 64% collect data on number of clients screened.
  - ▶ 55% collect data on number of IPV cases reported to law enforcement.

### Internal Assessment of DHS Healthcare Facilities

### Survey Development

Assessing the environment of healthcare facilities of the Los Angeles County, Department of Health Services was a crucial part of the IPV strategic planning process. It enabled us to identify key strategic areas and to guide future strategic decisions. With assistance from a UCLA survey development expert, two surveys were developed: one for staff and the other for administrators and managers. The objectives of the surveys were to:

- Assess staff's knowledge base on intimate partner violence policies, IPV laws and reporting, and current practices of their facilities;
- Identify issues, current problems, and strengths with IPV policies and current practices;
- Assess training needs and current training practices;
- Identify current practices of data collection, measurement, monitoring and evaluation of data;
- Identify utilization of resources within and outside of DHS facilities/programs. Surveys for administrators and mangers added important aspects of institutional environment and the level of support from management team.

### Sampling Selection and Methodology

The Data Collection sub-committee initially identified a list of healthcare facilities and programs within LAC-DHS for surveying, defined the inclusion and exclusion criteria for participation in the survey, and selected probability sampling as a sampling methodology. However, due to the magnitude of DHS healthcare facilities and the number of eligible DHS staff, sampling methodology was reconsidered for feasibility given a tight project schedule and limited resources. It was thus decided to reframe the list of eligible job classifications and target hospital units with high probability of encountering victims of IPV.

Eligible job classifications were full time and County employed physicians, dentists, hospital, clinic and public health nurses, social workers, public health investigators, community workers, and patient resource workers. For LAC/USC hospital, Emergency Department and walk-in clinics for Women's hospitals, OB/GYN and walk-in clinics for Olive View hospital, and Outpatient clinics and prenatal for Martin Luther King/Drew Medical Center were selected.

### Data Collection and Analysis

Surveys were distributed to six county hospitals, five comprehensive health centers, clinics in all eight Service Planning Areas (SPA), and two public health programs that provide direct services to the public. To facilitate data collection process, a liaison staff for each health care facility was requested and the Internal Working Group members were utilized. The Data Collection sub-committee members hand-delivered and collected surveys for staff and administrators during all-staff and manager meetings at different locations. Further, several Internal Working Group members representing Harbor UCLA, High Desert, and Rancho were already involved with IPV strategic planning. These individuals played a crucial role in distributing and collecting surveys, hand-delivering and collecting questionnaires to and from eligible staff and managers within their own facilities. The majority of hospital staff surveys (75%) came from Harbor UCLA, High Desert, and Rancho.

Approximately one half of all returned staff surveys came from the six hospitals (n=392); about one-fourth (n=214) came from staff within SPA clinics, and the rest were returned from Comprehensive Health Centers (n=189) and public health programs (n=28). Most administrators/managers' surveys came from the SPAs (n=40) and hospitals (n=39); the remainder came from the five Comprehensive Health Centers (n=21) and the two public health programs (n=2). The Olive View, Martin Luther King/Drew, Claude Hudson and Long Beach Comprehensive Health Centers distributed the surveys with employee paychecks, and a total of 7, 13, 46, and 14 surveys were returned from these facilities, respectively.

In addition, we asked each facility to provide the total number and names of eligible employees to estimate return rates. With inconsistent responses for this request, the best estimated return rates were 52% for staff and 36% for administrators and managers. The estimated return rate for the staff survey did not include the five Comprehensive Health Centers.

A database was created in Microsoft Access by the project coordinator and all variables in the survey were appropriately coded. In-depth instruction on survey structures and coding was given to two student professional workers, who then entered data into the database from April 14<sup>th</sup> through June 11<sup>th</sup>, 2004 as surveys were returned to us. To examine the quality of the data, the first 20 records and every 15<sup>th</sup> record thereafter were checked for errors. A few minor errors were found and corrected. The quality of the data was thus deemed excellent.

Data were entered and analyzed from 392 staff surveys from six county hospitals, 189 staff surveys from five Comprehensive Health Centers, 214 staff surveys from SPA clinics, and 28 staff surveys from two public health programs. Data were entered and analyzed from 39, 23, 40, and 2 administrators/managers' surveys from the six county hospitals, five comprehensive health centers, all SPA clinics, and two public health programs, respectively.

All variables in the database were converted into SAS for descriptive analysis. The following findings are from a total of 823 staff surveys and 104 administrators and managers surveys.

### Results

### Key findings from the staff surveys:

- ♦ A majority of staff respondents were nurses (n=609) and physicians (n=123). Thirty-three social workers responded to the survey and other job categories included public health investigators, patient resource workers, and community workers (n=58).
- ♦ Fifty-four percent (n=447) of respondents stated that their facility did have a policy for providing services to victims of intimate partner violence (IPV). Of these, 40% (n=181) were familiar with this policy. Twenty-nine percent (n=241) stated that their facility did have a designated staff or unit to whom they refer victims of IPV.
- ♦ Seventeen percent (n=136) of respondents stated that they were knowledgeable about IPV such as definition, facts, types, and dynamics.
- ♦ About forty percent (n=338) of the respondents were aware of the standard countywide injury reporting form for reporting intimate partner violence. Of these, only 14% of the respondents (n=48) have used the form to report IPV to local law enforcement during the past 12 months. Majority of those who have not used the form stated no IPV patients were identified (n=219).
- ♦ About two-thirds (n=532) were aware of the laws about IPV mandated reporting requirements for health care providers and of these 22% (n=180) stated that they were familiar with IPV laws.
- ♦ When asked if they were a mandated reporter for IPV, 65% of physicians (n=82) and 71% of the licensed nurses (n=381) responded yes.
- ♦ During employment with LAC, 37% (n=305) have attended a training session either offsite or onsite on IPV.
- ♦ When asked about perceived barriers to providing adequate services to victims of IPV, twenty-three percent (n=190) identified inadequate training on IPV as a barrier followed by language barrier with patients (n=163), inadequate resources to help identified IPV victims (n=157), and lack of time (n=136). Some staff felt they were not comfortable in discussing IPV with patients (n=72) while 4% (n=32) believed that IPV was a private matter and not a health concern.

### Key findings from the administrators and managers:

♦ A majority of these were managers or supervisors for nurses (n=53), physicians (n=29), and social workers (n=4). Other job classifications included hospital

- administrators, Area Health Officers, Area Medical Directors, Department Chairs, and Staff Analysts (n=16).
- ♦ When asked if their facility had a policy for screening victims of IPV, forty-five percent (n=47) stated yes. The rest did not have such policy (n=35) while some were not sure (n=22). IPV screening was usually conducted by a physician and/or nursing staff (n=40).
- ♦ Forty-four percent (n=46) stated that their facility did have written policies for treating, intervening, and referring for IPV. Of these, eighty-five percent (n=40) stated that it describes mandatory reporting procedures, referring procedure (n=38), intervention procedure (n=37), definition of IPV (n=35), and how to document an intervention (n=30).
- ♦ When asked about IPV training requirement at their facility, more respondents stated that IPV training was required for nurses (n=23) than for physicians (n=15).
- ♦ Seventeen percent (n=18) stated that they had an IPV coordinator/unit at their facility. These facilities were Harbor UCLA, LAC/USC, Hudson and Roybal Comprehensive Health Centers, North Hollywood Clinic (SPA 3&4) and Whittier Clinic (SPA 7&8).
- When asked if their facility has a standardized form that it uses to record information about known or suspected cases of IPV, twenty-nine percent (n=30) responded yes.
- ♦ About one-third (n=33) of the respondents stated their facility offered IPV training for staff and of those over half (n=19) stated that the training was mandatory. Fortyfour percent (n=46) stated their facility did not offer IPV training.
- ♦ When asked if there were posters or brochures about IPV in their facility, twentyeight percent (n=29) stated yes, over fifty percent (n=56) responded no, and the rest were not sure or did not answer (n=19).
- ♦ About one-fifth (n=22) of the respondents stated that their facility collected IPV data. Among these, seventy-three percent (n=16) collected data on number of IPV cases identified, sixty-four percent (n=14) on number of patients screened, and over fifty percent (n=12) stated that their facility collected data on number of IPV cases reported to law enforcement.
- Respondents were asked to comment on institutional weaknesses. Comments included: no established polices, no system to re-enforce the policy, need for an IPV coordinator, insufficient support and participation from administration, physicians, and the quality improvement unit, lack of training and need for on-going training, time constraints, high volume and acuity, lack of privacy, and poor collaboration with law enforcement and other agencies.

### Limitations

The results of the survey should be interpreted with caution. Due to the magnitude of eligible sample population employed within LAC-DHS healthcare facilities, probability sampling was beyond the scope of the project timeline and resources. Survey results may not be representative of all LAC-DHS staff because not all eligible employees were included in the sampling frame.

Variation in response rates by healthcare facility is likely due to survey distribution methods. Although we attempted to work with and through a liaison staff at each facility, we did not have comparable control of survey distribution at each health care site. This resulted in a wide range of the number of returned surveys. Those health care facilities where internal working group members took the surveys, and hand-delivered them to a group of eligible employees, showed higher response rates than those facilities without existing internal resources. In addition, survey distribution with paychecks showed very low return rates.

Further, the level of administrative support from each facility for the project was uneven. This presumably resulted in an inconsistent level of survey participation from their staff and managers. Mid-Valley Comprehensive Health Center chose not to participate in the survey.

The surveys were to be distributed to full time County employees. However, we were not able to determine how many part time or per diem employees completed surveys because we did not include a question about employment status.

It is highly possible that respondents from the same facility may have given different and /or conflicting answers to the same question. This may be due to individual job function, personal interest, and/or familiarity with the facility policy on the topic.

In addition, for some questions, respondents did not follow the survey instructions. For example, there was a subsequent question to be answered only if a previous question was answered positively. Respondents frequently did not follow these instructions.

A few of the survey questions may have been ambiguous. For example, question #15 in the staff survey "Does your facility/program provide direct services to clients/patients?" was confusing. It was not clearly defined what 'direct services' were; therefore, interpretations and responses to the question varied.

Funding of this project was too limited to examine the true magnitude and scope of issues related to intimate partner violence within LAC DHS healthcare facilities. Despite limitations, this survey was probably the first attempt of its kind to assess IPV related policies and practices distributed to DHS health care facilities in Los Angeles County.

### Goals, Objectives and Strategies

The IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition developed strategies, goals and objectives, which are essential to effectively addressing IPV within DHS healthcare facilities. The goals, objectives and strategies address our key strategic issues, and were developed in response to the data and information collected from the surveys and policy review. These data provided us with an explicit understanding of current IPV policies and procedures within DHS facilities, allowing the IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition to mobilize DHS' strengths when developing this strategic plan. In order to develop the goals, objectives and strategies, the Internal Working Group accomplished the following:

- Discussed each critical strategic issue that had been previously identified, and using gaps analysis, developed the final key strategic areas that will be addressed in the DHS' five-year strategic plan. The eight key strategic areas are:
  - ▶ DHS Policy on Intimate Partner Violence
  - ▶ IPV Policy Implementation and Systems Improvement Strategies
  - Screening and Identification
  - ▶ Intervention and Treatment
  - Resources and Referrals
  - ▶ Reporting and Law Enforcement
  - Collaboration and Data Collection
  - ▶ Training
- Discussed the relationship between DHS' strengths and weaknesses and the external opportunities and threats, and determined how that interplay affects the critical strategic issues.
- Developed and assessed the various possible strategic approaches to each critical issue.
- Narrowed down the options to arrive at the primary strategies related to program, management and operational priorities.
- Developed goals and objectives to assist in implementation of IPV policies and protocols within DHS healthcare facilities and to provide a measure by which to evaluate the progress and outcomes of the IPV Prevention Strategic Plan.

### Key Strategic Area #1: DHS Policy On Intimate Partner Violence

### Goal:

To develop standardized policies, procedures and protocols to address IPV within DHS healthcare facilities.

### Objectives:

- 1) By 2006, the Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) will formulate an IPV policy development team, comprised of interested Internal Working Group members, to create standardized IPV policies for DHS healthcare facilities.
- 2) By 2006, the IVPP and the IPV policy development team will develop standardized IPV policies for DHS healthcare facilities, by revising and adapting current IPV policies from selected DHS healthcare facilities.
- 3) By 2007, standardized IPV policies will be approved by appropriate DHS command channels and be distributed to DHS healthcare facilities.

### **Recommended Strategies:**

- 1) Create a standardized DHS Policy and Procedure on IPV that includes, at a minimum, the following elements:
  - a) Purpose
  - b) Definition, background and impact of IPV
  - c) Roles and Responsibilities of DHS health care providers
  - d) Guidelines for implementation
  - e) Standardized procedures for:
    - i) Screening
    - ii) Assessment and intervention
    - iii) Documentation
    - iv) Lethality assessment and safety plan
    - v) Reporting
  - f) Training:

- i) IPV training is mandated for all staff with patient/client contact and recommended for all staff.
- ii) IPV training will be included in new employee orientation.
- iii) IPV policy will be included in annual Performance Evaluation reviews and signed by employees to indicate knowledge of their responsibility.
- g) Compliance Guidelines for Policy Monitoring and Evaluation:
- h) Data Collection
- i) Cultural and Linguistic Sensitivity
- j) Inter-agency and intra-agency collaboration
- k) Timeline for implementation

### Key Strategic Area #2: IPV Policy Implementation And Systems Improvement Strategies

### Goal:

To ensure that DHS facilities have the infrastructure and guidelines necessary to implement the IPV policy.

### Objectives:

- 1) By 2006, the Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) will hire two staff members to assist with the coordination and implementation of IPV activities throughout DHS, which include staff training, resource and referral management, and evaluation.
- 2) By 2006, the IVPP and the IPV policy development team will create guidelines for monitoring and evaluating IPV policy implementation.
- 3) By 2006, the IVPP and the IPV policy development team will create guidelines to ensure that clinics and community-based organizations in partnership with DHS are in compliance with IPV laws.
- 4) By 2006, the IVPP will investigate and document new advanced technologies for screening, referrals, reporting, and data collection.
- 5) By 2007, IVPP will develop an internal promotional campaign to inform staff on new standardized IPV policies and procedures.
- 6) By 2007, an IPV web-page for MyPHD and the DHS websites will be completed. The DHS IPV policies, reporting forms, and other community resources will be available to all DHS staff through these websites.
- 7) By 2007, the IVPP will assess the feasibility of utilizing new technologies within DHS healthcare facilities.
- 8) By 2008, 100 % of DHS healthcare facilities will develop their own IPV implementation plans based on guidelines specified by DHS IPV policy.
- 9) By 2008, 100 % of DHS healthcare facilities will create IPV Response Teams or designate an IPV staff member(s) to facilitate IPV policy implementation and systems improvement.
- 10)By 2008, an internal promotional campaign will be disseminated to 100% of DHS healthcare facilities to inform DHS staff on standardized IPV policies and procedures.

- 11)By 2008, initiate on-going maintenance and perform periodic updates of IPV information (i.e. policies, laws, and community resources) on the DHS and MyPHD websites.
- 12) By 2010, the IVPP will re-evaluate technology for screening, referrals, reporting, and data collection.
- 13)By 2010, IVPP will coordinate a process and outcome evaluation of the overall IPV program within DHS healthcare facilities.

### Recommended Strategies:

- 1) Identify funding sources and submit proposals to potential funders to assure adequate financial resources to implement the overall strategic plan and IPV policy.
- 2) Create IPV Response Teams, with special training in IPV, who respond, during all hours of operation, when staff identify suspected IPV. The IPV Response Team members interview the patient, complete the paperwork, give referrals, and report to local law enforcement.
  - a) Each CEO/Clinic Manager/Area Health Officer will identify members of the IPV Response Team (including social workers [MSWs or LCSWs] or public health nurses) and release them for training and assisting suspected IPV victims. The composition of the IPV Response Teams will be site specific for comprehensive health centers, Public Health and Personal Health clinics and county hospitals.
  - b) Social workers (MSWs or LCSWs) will be included in IPV Response Team in hospitals and will attend regular meetings with IPV Response Teams in clinics without on-site social workers.
  - c) Each CEO/Clinic Manager/Area Health Officer will be accountable for assuring a working IPV Response Team and for establishing linkages with local law enforcement and IPV service providers.
  - d) IPV Response Teams will meet at least quarterly for training and/or systems improvement.
- Each facility will develop its own IPV implementation plan based on guidelines specified by DHS IPV policy.
- 4) At each facility, the CEO/Clinic Manager/Area Health Officer will be accountable for implementing IPV policies, procedures and protocols.
- 5) The DHS Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) will develop guidelines for IPV policy implementation, monitoring, and evaluation, which may be incorporated

- into the Management Appraisal and Performance Plan (MAPP) or existing Quality Management (QM) activities within each facility.
- 6) IVPP will develop guidelines to incorporate compliance with IPV laws into contracts with clinics and community-based organizations in partnership with DHS.
- 7) Create an IPV page for MyPHD and the DHS websites to make screening policies, procedures, protocols and reporting forms available to all. The websites will contain links to other services and have search capabilities (i.e. capacity to search specifically for services for same sex couples, teen dating violence etc)
- 8) Investigate new technologies for screening, referrals, reporting, and data collection. (e.g. use of handheld computer technology and/or feasibility of tapping into existing SCARS-Suspected Child Abuse Reporting System).
- 9) Develop an internal promotional campaign focused on:
  - i) Reminding staff to screen, treat, refer, and report suspected and known IPV cases.
  - ii) Informing staff of new IPV policies.

### Key Strategic Area #3: Screening & Identification

### Goal:

To ensure that all patients ages 13 and older seen at DHS healthcare facilities are screened by a culturally competent healthcare provider, who is trained to identify IPV.

### **Objectives:**

- 1) By 2006, the IPV standardized policy will include a recommended IPV screening instrument to be used across DHS healthcare facilities.
- By 2010, 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients, ages 13 years and older, with the screening documentation as part of the permanent medical record.
  - a) By 2008, 25% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients, ages 13 years and older, with the screening documentation as part of the permanent medical record.
  - b) By 2009, 75% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients, ages 13 years and older, with the screening documentation as part of the permanent medical record.

### Recommended Strategies:

- 1) Develop a protocol for routine screening of IPV, which complies with state laws and shall become part of the permanent medical record.
- Assess existing IPV screening instruments used in clinical settings and adapt as needed to include linguistically and culturally appropriate questions.
- 3) Secure funding for IPV screening translation services available in target languages and sign language
- 4) Flag all DHS patient/client charts in which there is a suspected IPV victim or perpetrator to ensure safety and to provide timely intervention.

# Key Strategic Area #4: Intervention & Treatment

### Goal:

To ensure that all patients, ages 13 and older, who screen positive for IPV will receive appropriate intervention and treatment.

### Objectives:

- 1) By 2006, IVPP will evaluate, update and distribute existing IPV educational materials.
- 2) By 2010, 90% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessed and documented, injuries recorded in a body map, and have a safety plan discussed.
  - a) By 2008, 50% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessed and documented, injuries recorded in a body map, and have a safety plan discussed.
  - b) By 2009, 75% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessed and documented, injuries recorded in a body map, and have a safety plan discussed.
- 3) By 2010, 90% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies for follow-up.
  - a) By 2008, 50% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies for follow-up.
  - b) By 2009, 75% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies for follow-up.

- 1) Establish IPV protocols for Intervention and Treatment. Appropriate intervention and treatment will include:
  - a) Lethality assessment
  - b) Treatment of current medical problems
  - c) Documentation of the abuse
    - i) Use of body map
    - ii) Use of patient's own words
  - d) Examination for the pattern and history of abuse

- e) Discussion of safety plans and options
- f) Appropriate referrals and resources
- g) Follow-up care
- 2) Evaluate and update existing IPV educational materials, revising the materials to be gender neutral and meet the needs of diverse populations including:
  - a) Racial/ethnic/cultural groups
  - b) Non-English speaking groups
  - c) People with disabilities
  - d) Adolescents
  - e) Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT)
- 3) Promote intimate partner violence awareness and prevention within the Department by:
  - a) Posting IPV awareness posters and brochures in waiting areas.
  - b) Showing child appropriate IPV videos or Public Service Announcements in waiting rooms.
  - c) Placing IPV resource materials in the exam room and/or bathrooms.
  - d) Other health education activities.

# Key Strategic Area #5: Resources & Referrals

### Goal:

To ensure that IPV resources are available to all DHS healthcare providers to assist with referral of patients to appropriate resources.

### Objectives:

- 1) By 2006, the IVPP will identify and update culturally and linguistically appropriate resources and referral lists.
- 2) By 2008, 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will have culturally and linguistically appropriate resources, referral lists, and IPV prevention and intervention literature easily accessible to all DHS patients/clients.
  - a) By 2007, 50% of DHS healthcare facilities will have culturally and linguistically appropriate resources, referral lists, and IPV prevention and intervention literature easily accessible to all DHS patients/clients.
- 3) By 2009, 100% of the IPV Response Team (or designated IPV staff) will initiate contact and develop a working relationship with community agencies knowledgeable about IPV to whom they can refer patients.
  - a) By 2008, 50% of the IPV Response Team (or designated IPV staff) will initiate contact and develop a working relationship with community agencies knowledgeable about IPV to whom they can refer patients.

- 1) Provide a referral guide for professionals and the community consisting of IPV prevention and treatment agencies, mental health professionals and agencies, service providers, and other relevant violence prevention community links including the following:
  - a) Child care resources
  - b) Legal Aid
  - c) Hotline Services
  - d) Shelters for IPV Victims
  - e) Victim Services Organizations
  - f) Mental Health Agencies
  - g) Health Organizations (e.g. hospitals, clinics)
  - h) Law Enforcement Agencies

- i) Organizations Connected with the Violence Prevention Coalition (VPC)
- j) Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault Community Based Organizations
- k) Alcohol & Drug Programs
- I) 12 Step Referrals
- m) Rape Crisis Centers
- n) Culturally relevant resources, including community agencies serving culturally, ethnically and linguistically diverse populations
- o) Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Services
- p) Batterer's Invention Program
- 2) Update and distribute a pocket size IPV resource card (business card) that lists referrals in multiple languages for patients/clients and the community.
- 3) The DHS Injury and Violence Prevention Program (IVPP) will be responsible for coordinating IPV activities throughout DHS including:
  - a) Coordinating IPV training
  - b) Handling of referrals and requests for information from the general public.
  - c) Resource to IPV Response Teams and community based organizations
  - d) Data collection, analysis and interpretation
  - e) Monitoring and evaluation of IPV trainings
  - f) Updating and disseminating IPV educational materials to DHS healthcare providers

# Key Strategic Area #6: Reporting And Law Enforcement

### Goal:

To ensure that all DHS healthcare providers comply with IPV reporting laws and collaborate with local law enforcement agencies to improve safety outcomes for patients identified with suspected or known IPV.

### **Objectives:**

- 1) By 2006, IVPP will identify contacts within law enforcement agencies in LAC to address IPV.
- 2) By 2009, 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will have established contact with identified law enforcement personnel in their jurisdiction by the IPV Response Team or IPV designated staff.
  - a) By 2008, 50% of DHS healthcare facilities will have established contact with identified law enforcement personnel in their jurisdiction by the IPV Response Team or IPV designated staff.
- 3) By 2010, 90% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to local law enforcement as mandated by state law, using a standardized reporting form.
  - a) By 2008, 50% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to local law enforcement as mandated by state law, using a standardized reporting form.
  - b) By 2009, 75% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to local law enforcement as mandated by state law, using a standardized reporting form.

- 1) Each CEO/Clinic Manager/Area Health Officer will be held accountable for compliance with state IPV reporting laws and regulations.
- 2) Assure that each facility has a liaison person to maintain collaborative efforts with local law enforcement agencies to:

- a) Promote safety for IPV victims and family
- b) Prevent recurrence of IPV
- c) Improve law enforcement's response to a report (oral and written) and better understand the protocol once reported to local law enforcement.

  d) Facilitate procedures for obtaining an emergency restraining order.

# Key Strategic Area #7: Collaboration And Data Collection

### Goal:

To ensure prevention of IPV through the collection of data and collaboration with internal and external agencies.

### Objectives:

- 1) By 2007 of implementation, the IVPP will develop a collaborative plan with DHS internal program staff and community partners on training, funding, sharing of resources and data collection.
- 2) By 2008, the IVPP will develop a data collection system to collect IPV data in DHS healthcare facilities.
- 3) By 2008, each CEO/Clinic Manager/Area Health Officer will appoint an IPV records keeper to submit regular quarterly reports to IVPP.
- 4) By 2008, IVPP will train IPV records keepers to submit quarterly IPV reports beginning in 2009 of implementation.
- 5) By 2010, 100% of DHS healthcare facilities and IVPP will implement the protocols and procedures for data collection as specified in the IPV policy and determined by the IVPP.
  - a) By 2009, 50% of DHS healthcare facilities and IVPP will implement the protocols and procedures for data collection as specified in the IPV policy and determined by the IVPP.
- 6) By 2010, IVPP will investigate the feasibility of establishing a county-wide IPV data collection system, among DHS facilities, non-DHS healthcare facilities, and other community agencies.

- 1) For the purpose of IPV prevention, intervention, education and/or treatment, collaborate with agencies outside of DHS (inter-agency collaboration):
  - a) Specifically collaborate with community organizations (i.e. non-profits doing IPV-related work such as shelters, rape crisis centers, hotlines), law enforcement, judges, commissioners, schools, other L.A. County departments (Department of Mental Health, Children and Family Services, Department of Public Social

Services), and agencies with expertise in dealing with IPV in specific cultures such as LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender) community;

- b) Collaboration will focus on the following topics:
  - i) Training
  - ii) Funding
  - iii) Client advocacy
  - iv) Public policy and legislation
  - v) Sharing of resources
  - vi) Sharing of data
  - vii) Promotional campaigns (i.e. Prevention forums, newsletters, job listings, emails)
- 2) For the purpose of IPV prevention, intervention, education and/or treatment, collaborate with agencies within DHS (intra-agency collaboration):
  - a) Specifically collaborate with the Alcohol and Drug Program, Maternal, Child and Adolescent Health (MCAH) program, Suspected Child Abuse and Neglect (SCAN) Teams in the hospitals, Office of Women's Health, SPAs, Health Education Program, Nurse Family Partnership, Sexually Transmitted Disease (STD) Program, and the Office of AIDS Programs and Policy (OAPP).
  - b) Collaboration will focus on the following topics:
    - i) Training
    - ii) Funding
    - iii) Advocacy
    - iv) Sharing of resources
    - v) Sharing of data
- 3) Develop a countywide system to collect IPV victim and perpetrator data. Specifically collect data on:
  - a) Scope and magnitude of the problem (incidence and prevalence)
  - b) Trends in IPV occurrence among populations
  - c) Health impacts
  - d) Victim and perpetrator profiles and/or risk factors

## Key Strategic Area #8: Training

### Goal:

To provide IPV and sexual violence training to DHS staff to increase staff knowledge and skills in order to address and reduce the impact of IPV in Los Angeles County

# Objectives:

- By 2007 of implementation, the IVPP will provide a training curriculum and an evaluation tool to be implemented within DHS.
- By 2008, 90% of administrators/managers in each DHS healthcare facility, who are mandated in the IPV policy, will have participated in the IPV and sexual violence training.
  - a) By 2007, 25% of administrators/managers in each DHS healthcare facility, who are mandated in the IPV policy, will have participated in the IPV and sexual violence training.
- 3) By 2010, 90% of DHS staff with direct patient care, in each healthcare facility, will participate in IPV and sexual violence training offered through DHS.
  - a) By 2008, 25% of DHS staff with direct patient care will participate in IPV and sexual violence training offered through DHS.
  - b) By 2009, 75% of DHS staff with direct patient care will participate in IPV and sexual violence training offered through DHS.
- 4) By 2009, 90% of all new DHS staff will participate in IPV and sexual violence training within one year of hire.
- 5) By 2008, IVPP will evaluate initial trainings and make adjustments accordingly for future training.
- 6) By 2010, 90% of DHS staff, who provide direct patient care, and who completed initial training by 2008, will attend on-going IPV and sexual violence training.

# **Recommended Strategies:**

1) Mandate and provide annual IPV and sexual violence training, using evidence-based curriculums and materials, in compliance with California State law.

- 2) Training will be provided to:
  - a) All DHS staff with patient/client contact. Priority for training will be given to:
    - i) Pediatric and adolescent health services providers
    - ii) Emergency Departments, Urgent Care Clinics, and Comprehensive Health Centers
    - iii) Prenatal and OB/GYN clinics
  - b) All new DHS staff as part of new-employee orientation
  - c) Administrators in each DHS facility and program
- 3) All training will be conducted by and/or in collaboration with:
  - a) IPV experts
  - b) A law enforcement professional who works with IPV and sexual violence
  - c) Community based agencies providing IPV services within the community including shelters
  - d) An IPV survivor
- 4) Training topics will include but not be limited to:
  - a) Background and Enforcement of IPV Policy
  - b) Definition and Prevalence of IPV
  - c) Dynamics of IPV
  - d) Causes of IPV
  - e) Impact of IPV on victim, children, employment and the community
  - f) Correlation between IPV and child abuse
  - g) IPV in diverse culture, ethnic and same sex groups
  - h) Health Care and IPV
    - i) Identification of signs and symptoms of IPV
    - ii) Screening
    - iii) Intervention and Treatment
    - iv) Documentation
    - v) Lethality assessment and safety plan
    - vi) Referrals and Resources
    - vii) California mandatory reporting laws
    - viii) Cultural competency in dealing with diverse IPV victims
- 5) Initial IPV training should be offered in-person at a DHS facility for a minimum of two hours. Web-based and interactive satellite training may only be used for on-going training.
- 6) Suggested training methods may include:
  - a) Didactic lecture
  - b) Role play
  - c) Vignettes
  - d) Written material
  - e) Video

- f) Interactive question and answer
- 7) DHS will collaborate with community-based organizations, with IPV expertise, to train others including law enforcement, judges and commissioners.
- 8) IVPP will develop an evaluation tool for IPV trainings to measure changes in knowledge, attitudes and behaviors, as well as an evaluation of the training and trainers.

# Implementation Plan Timeline

2010	5.1a. IVPP will coordinate a process and outcome evaluation of the overall IPV program within DHS healthcare facilities.  5.1b. 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients ages 13 and older.  5.1c. 90% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessment documented, body map recorded, and safety plan discussed.	
2009	4.1a. 75% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients ages 13 and older. 4.1b. 75% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessment documented, body map recorded, and safety plan discussed.	
2008	3.1a. 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will develop own IPV implementation plan. 3.1b. 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will create IPV Response Team or identify designated IPV staff. 3.1c. 25% of DHS healthcare facilities will routinely provide IPV screening to patients ages 13 and older. 3.1d. 50% of DHS patients who screened positive for IPV will have lethality assessment documented, body map recorded, and safety plan discussed.	3.2a. Promotional campaign will be disseminated to 100% of DHS healthcare facilities.
2007	2.1a. Standardized IPV policies to be approved and be distributed to DHS healthcare facilities.	2.2a. IVPP will develop internal promotional campaign to inform DHS staff on standardized IPV policies & procedures.
2006	1.1a. IVPP will hire two staff members to assist with coordination and implementation of IPV activities including training, resource and referral management and evaluation.  1.1b. IVPP will formulate a IPV Policy Develop standardized IPV policies -Include recommended screening instrument -Include guidelines for policy implementation monitoring & evaluation - Include guidelines to incorporate contract terms.	
Voor/Activities	1. Standardized IPV policies & policy implementation	2. Internal promotional campaign

2010	5.3a. 90% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to focal law enforcement.	5.4a. 90% of DHS staff who provide direct patient care and who completed initial training by 2008 will attend on-going IPV and sexual violence training.	5.4b. 90% of DHS staff with direct patient care in each healthcare facility will participate in IPV and sexual violence training.
2009	4.3a. 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will have established contact with law enforcement personnel in their jurisdiction by the IPV Response Team or IPV designated staff. 4.3b. 75% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to local law enforcement.	4.4a. 90% of all new DHS staff will participate in IPV and sexual violence training within one year of hire.	4.4b. 75% of DHS staff with direct patient care in each healthcare facility will participate in IPV and sexual violence training.
2008	3.3a. 50% of DHS healthcare facilities will have established contact with law enforcement personnel in their jurisdiction by the IPV Response Team or IPV designated staff. 3.3b. 50% of known or suspected IPV cases within DHS healthcare facilities will be reported to local law enforcement.	3.4a. IVPP will evaluate initial trainings and make adjustments accordingly for future training.  3.4b. 90% of administrators and managers in each DHS healthcare facility who are mandated in the IPV policy will have participated in the IPV and sexual violence training.	3.4c. 25% of DHS staff with direct patient care in each healthcare facility will participate in IPV and sexual violence training.
2007		2.4a. IVPP will develop training protocol. 2.4b. IVPP will develop evaluation tools for IPV training. 2.4c. 25% of administrators and managers in each DHS healthcare facility who are mandated in the IPV policy will have participated in the IPV and sexual violence training.	
2006	1.3a. IVPP will identify contacts within law enforcement agencies in LAC to address IPV.		
Year/Activities	3. Reporting & Law enforcement contact	4. Training	

2010	5.5a. Investigate the feasibility of a countywide system for data collection. 5.5b. 100% of DHS healthcare facilities and IVPP will implement data collection protocols & procedures.		5.6a. 100% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies for follow-up
2009	4.5a. IPV records keepers will submit quarterly IPV data reports. 4.5b. 50% of DHS healthcare facilities and IVPP will implement data collection protocols & procedures.	4.6a. 100% of the IPV Response Team or designated IPV staff initiates contact and develop a working relationship with community agencies with expertise in IPV.	4.6b. 85% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies for followarm
2008	3.5a. Each CEO/Clinic Manager/AHO will appoint an IPV records keeper to submit reports to IVPP. 3.5b. IVPP will train IPV records keepers. 3.5c. IVPP will develop IPV data collection system within DHS healthcare facilities.	3.6a 100% of DHS healthcare facilities will have appropriate resources, referral lists, and IPV prevention and intervention literature accessible to all DHS patients/clients.  3.6b. 50% of the IPV Response Teams or designated IPV staff will initiate contact and develop a working relationship with community agencies with expertise in IPV.	3.6b. 50% of DHS patients who screen positive for IPV will be provided with resources and referred to appropriate agencies
2007		2.6a. 50% of DHS healthcare facilities will have appropriate resources, referral lists, and IPV prevention and intervention literature accessible to all DHS patients/clients.	
2006		1.6a. IVPP will update IPV resources & referral lists.	
Year/Activities	5, Data collection system	6. Resources & referral lists	

Vosr/Activities	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
7. Educational	1.7a. IVPP will		The state of the s	delithring or a comment of the comme	5.7a. IVPP will
materials	distribute IPV	4			continue to be a
	educational materials.				resource for updated
					IPV educational
					materials.
8 Inter- & Intra-	The state of the s	2.8a. IVPP will outline	and the state of t		5.8a. Efforts to seek
adencies		a plan for inter- and			opportunities to
Collaboration		intra- agencies			collaborate with inter
		collaboration.			& intra-agencies
					continue.
9. MvPHD & DHS		2.9a. IPV web page	3.9a. Initiate on-going		5.9a. Continue on-
web pages		(policies, reporting	maintenance of web		going maintenance of
0 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		forms, community	page.		web page including
		resources)			update of information
		completion.			(policies, laws,
		•			community
···········					resources).
	Line and the second sec		anning the state of the state o		
10. Advanced	1.10a. Investigation &	2.10a. Assess			5.10a. Re-evaluate
technology	documentation for	feasibility of utilizing			technology for
	new advanced	new technology within			screening, referrals,
	technology for	DHS healthcare			reporting, and data
***************************************	screening, referrals,	facilities.			collection.
	reporting, and data				
	collection.				
-100					

# Post Script

"The professions of medicine, nursing, and the health-related social services must come forward and recognize violence as their issue and one that profoundly affects the public health."

- Former Surgeon General C. Everett Koop

The Los Angeles County-DHS is committed to taking a leadership role in meeting former Surgeon General C. Everett Koop's challenge as it declares the mission to protect and improve the health of all Angelenos. This project provided an opportunity towards this mission by gathering DHS staff and administrators together with community leaders who shared the same vision of creating a better and safer place to live in our community. Their commitment and dedication shown for the project was invaluable and the collaboration created through the planning process was beyond what was documented in this plan.

The IPV Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition believes that violence is a public health issue because of its tremendous impact on the health and well-being of residents in Los Angeles County. The public health model to violence prevention brings a strong problem-solving approach with an emphasis on collaboration and community involvement. This approach is based on a well-defined process, which involves identifying the risk factors, designing interventions to address these factors, and evaluating the effectiveness of programmatic efforts.

Every member of the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition strongly believes that prevention of intimate partner violence is possible, and that together, we can make a difference in addressing this critical issue. Each one of us can contribute to transforming the system, and united, we provide a powerful front to combating this terrible epidemic. And thus, we cordially invite you to join us by committing to fully supporting violence prevention efforts through implementation of this strategic plan within all DHS healthcare facilities.

As we move forward to manifest a common vision of a community free from the destruction of intimate partner violence, let us embrace the words of Margaret Mead (from Only One Earth):

"Never doubt that a small group of committed people can change the world. Indeed, it's the only thing that ever has."

Together, we CAN and WILL make a difference.

Appendix A
Strategic Planning Detail

# Appendix A: Strategic Planning Process

The strategic planning process includes seven fundamental phases that allow for flexibility and creativity, while providing a structured process to focus the participants. This project addressed the first five fundamental phases, although it describes the last two phases so the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition will have an understanding of the necessary steps involved in implementing a strategic plan. The seven phases are as follows:

### Phase 1: Getting Ready

Prior to initiating the strategic planning process, the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition assessed if it was ready for strategic planning at this time. The most important factor of readiness is a true commitment to the planning process amongst the key leaders. Following that determination, five things were accomplished in phase one to pave the way for an organized strategic planning process:

- Identification of specific issues or choices that the planning process should address.
- Clarification of roles of members involved in the planning process.
- Creation of a planning committee.
- Development of an organizational profile.
- Identification of the information that must be collected to assist in relevant decisionmaking.

### Phase 1 Outcomes:

- Agreement that the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition was ready to initiate a strategic planning process.
- Identification of potential members of the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition, Internal Work Group, Sub-Committees and External Advisory Group.
- Detailed Plan for Planning including agreement on process and procedures for all phases of planning, planning outcomes, possible activities, personnel responsibility and timeframe.
- Knowledge about planning process and agreement on terminology by all Internal Work Group members.
- Common base of knowledge about organizational and project history and programs.
- Agreement on initial critical issues and initial plan for gathering information that will assist with strategic decisions.

# Phase 2: Articulating the Mission and Vision

The mission statement communicates the essence of the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition. For this phase, the mission statement described the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition in the following terms:

- Purpose: Why the group exists and what it seeked to accomplish.
- Business: A description of the primary means used to accomplish the purpose.

 Values: The principles or beliefs that guided the group's members as they pursued the purpose.

A vision statement presents an image in words that describes the image of success. With a mission statement and a vision statement, the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition had a solid understanding of what it needed to accomplish, the reasons behind the accomplishments, and what it hoped to achieve.

### Phase 2 Outcomes:

Agreement on Mission and Vision Statement

### Phase 3: Assessing the Environment

During the strategic planning process, it was important for DHS to examine its current situation. During phase 3, information was collected regarding DHS' internal strengths and weaknesses, and its external opportunities and threats in regard to addressing intimate partner violence. These assessments assisted the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition in determining the most critical issues to address. During phase 3, the DHS healthcare facilities were assessed to identify the current practices and protocols regarding IPV and the degree of implementation of these procedures. The Internal Work Group and the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition agreed on eight critical issues around which to organize the strategic plan.

### Phase 3 Outcomes:

- Compilation of information to help inform strategic decisions.
- Sufficient information about the organization and issues so as to be able to make informed choices about long and short-term priorities.
- Evaluation of current policies and procedures and degree of implementation.

### Phase 4: Agreeing on Priorities

During phase 4, the Internal Work Group and the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition decided on the strategies to address the eight issues and established goals and objectives. It was during this phase that the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition agreed on its top priorities.

### Phase 4 Outcomes:

- Agreement on core strategies and long term and short term program and administrative priorities.
- Agreement on overall program and organizational project goals.
- Agreement on specific objectives that the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition wished to accomplish in the immediate and long term.

### Phase 5: Writing the Strategic Plan

The information collected in the previous phases will be synthesized into one coherent, consolidated document that will be submitted for review by all of the Strategic Planning Coalition Advisory Group.

### Phase 5 Outcomes:

- Approval of Strategic Plan.
- Distribution of Plan to key leaders and stakeholders.

### Phase 6: Implementing the Strategic Plan

The interface between the strategic plan and the daily operations is a concise and easy-to-use operating plan. This plan should coincide with the organization's fiscal year and accommodate the need for detailed program-level planning related to funding cycles or other reporting cycles. The Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition will need to develop an overall operational plan, while each DHS health care facility will need to develop an implementation plan to integrate the new policies and protocols into their operations.

### Phase 6 Outcomes:

Detailed operating plan.

### Phase 7: Monitoring and Evaluation

The strategic planning process should always be responsive to a changing environment. Periodic assessment will need to be conducted to determine if the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition is meeting its goals and objectives and if those goals and objectives are still pertinent. An evaluation should analyze the following:

- Applicability of the current strategic plan.
- Accomplishments of goals and objectives.
- Validity of the internal and external environment of the original strategic plan.
- Current issues facing the organization.
- New priorities that need to be addressed.
- Performance targets.

### Phase 7 Outcomes:

- In-depth system to monitor and evaluate implementation of the plan and achievement of success factors.
- Processes to ensure that the Operating Plan is modified as needed and that the Strategic Plan continues to provide guidance for the setting of current priorities for the following year. Evaluation will assist the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Strategic Planning Coalition with analyzing its efficacy in meeting the needs of its clients.

Appendix B IPV Legislation

# ■ Appendix B: Legislation-California Penal Code Section 11160

- 11160. (a) Any health practitioner employed in a health facility, clinic, physician's office, local or state public health department, or a clinic or other type of facility operated by a local or state public health department who, in his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment, provides medical services for a physical condition to a patient whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects is a person described as follows, shall immediately make a report in accordance with subdivision (b):
- (1) Any person suffering from any wound or other physical injury inflicted by his or her own act or inflicted by another where the injury is by means of a firearm.
- (2) Any person suffering from any wound or other physical injury inflicted upon the person where the injury is the result of assaultive or abusive conduct.
- (b) Any health practitioner employed in a health facility, clinic, physician's office, local or state public health department, or a clinic or other type of facility operated by a local or state public health department shall make a report regarding persons described in subdivision (a) to a local law enforcement agency as follows:
- (1) A report by telephone shall be made immediately or as soon as practically possible.
- (2) A written report shall be prepared on the standard form developed in compliance with paragraph (4) of this subdivision, and Section 11160.2, and adopted by the agency or agencies designated by the Director of Finance pursuant to Section 13820, or on a form developed and adopted by another state agency that otherwise fulfills the requirements of the standard form. The completed form shall be sent to a local law enforcement agency within two working days of receiving the information regarding the person.
- (3) A local law enforcement agency shall be notified and a written report shall be prepared and sent pursuant to paragraphs (1) and (2) even if the person who suffered the wound, other injury, or assaultive or abusive conduct has expired, regardless of whether or not the wound, other injury, or assaultive or abusive conduct was a factor contributing to the death, and even if the evidence of the conduct of the perpetrator of the wound, other injury, or assaultive or abusive conduct was discovered during an autopsy.
  - (4) The report shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following:
  - (A) The name of the injured person, if known.
  - (B) The injured person's whereabouts.
  - (C) The character and extent of the person's injuries.
- (D) The identity of any person the injured person alleges inflicted the wound, other injury, or assaultive or abusive conduct upon the injured person.
- (c) For the purposes of this section, "injury" shall not include any psychological or physical condition brought about solely through the voluntary administration of a narcotic or restricted dangerous drug.
- (d) For the purposes of this section, "assaultive or abusive conduct" shall include any of the following offenses:
  - (1) Murder, in violation of Section 187.
  - (2) Manslaughter, in violation of Section 192 or 192.5.

- (3) Mayhem, in violation of Section 203.
- (4) Aggravated mayhem, in violation of Section 205.
- (5) Torture, in violation of Section 206.
- (6) Assault with intent to commit mayhem, rape, sodomy, or oral copulation, in violation of Section 220.
- (7) Administering controlled substances or anesthetic to aid in commission of a felony, in violation of Section 222.
  - (8) Battery, in violation of Section 242.
  - (9) Sexual battery, in violation of Section 243.4.
  - (10) Incest, in violation of Section 285.
- (11) Throwing any vitriol, corrosive acid, or caustic chemical with intent to injure or disfigure, in violation of Section 244.
  - (12) Assault with a stun gun or taser, in violation of Section 244.5.
- (13) Assault with a deadly weapon, firearm, assault weapon, or machinegun, or by means likely to produce great bodily injury, in violation of Section 245.
  - (14) Rape, in violation of Section 261.
  - (15) Spousal rape, in violation of Section 262.
- (16) Procuring any female to have sex with another man, in violation of Section 266, 266a, 266b, or 266c.
  - (17) Child abuse or endangerment, in violation of Section 273a or 273d.
  - (18) Abuse of spouse or cohabitant, in violation of Section 273.5.
  - (19) Sodomy, in violation of Section 286.
  - (20) Lewd and lascivious acts with a child, in violation of Section 288.
  - (21) Oral copulation, in violation of Section 288a.
  - (22) Sexual penetration, in violation of Section 289.
  - (23) Elder abuse, in violation of Section 368.
  - (24) An attempt to commit any crime specified in paragraphs (1) to (23), inclusive.
- (e) When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly have knowledge of a known or suspected instance of violence that is required to be reported pursuant to this section, and when there is an agreement among these persons to report as a team, the team may select by mutual agreement a member of the team to make a report by telephone and a single written report, as required by subdivision (b). The written report shall be signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has knowledge that the member designated to report has failed to do so shall thereafter make the report.
- (f) The reporting duties under this section are individual, except as provided in subdivision (e).
- (g) No supervisor or administrator shall impede or inhibit the reporting duties required under this section and no person making a report pursuant to this section shall be subject to any sanction for making the report. However, internal procedures to facilitate reporting and apprise supervisors and administrators of reports may be established, except that these procedures shall not be inconsistent with this article. The internal procedures shall not require any employee required to make a report under this article to disclose his or her identity to the employer.
- (h) For the purposes of this section, it is the Legislature's intent to avoid duplication of information.

Appendix C Surveys

# Appendix C: Surveys

## Administrative Survey



THOMAS L. GARTHWAITE, M.D. Director and Chief Medical Officer

JONATHAN E. FIELDING, M.D., M.P.H. Director of Public Health and Health Officer

Office of Injury and Violence Prevention Program

BILLIE WEISS, M.P.H., Director 3530 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 800 Los Angeles, California 90005 TEL (213) 351-7888 • FAX (213) 351-2713

www.lapublichealth.org

March 5, 2004



**BOARD OF SUPERVISORS** 

Gloria Molina First District

Yvanne Brathwaite Burke Second District

Zev Yaroslavsky Third District

Don Knabe
Fourth District

Fifth District

Michael D. Antonovich

The Injury and Violence Prevention Program was recently awarded a grant from the State to conduct strategic planning for **Intimate Partner Violence** (IPV) prevention. Intimate partner violence refers to any behavior within an intimate relationship that causes physical, psychological or sexual harm to those in the relationship and it does NOT include child abuse or elder abuse. The overall goal of the grant is to develop a Department of Health Services (DHS) five-year plan to reduce and prevent IPV throughout Los Angeles County (LAC).

As a part of the initial planning process, we are conducting a survey to gather information about current IPV policies and practices throughout LAC DHS healthcare facilities. Results will be analyzed as aggregate data to support the overall strategic planning process.

Please take a few minutes to fill out this questionnaire and return it to the Injury and Violence Prevention Program by xxxxx county mail in the enclosed envelope or fax it to us at 213 351-2713. For more information or questions regarding this project or survey, please contact Billie Weiss, M.P.H. or Sung Hye Yu, Ph.D. at (213) 351-7888 or via email at <a href="mailto:bweiss@dhs.co.la.ca.us">bweiss@dhs.co.la.ca.us</a> or <a href="mailto:syu@dhs.co.la.ca.us">syu@dhs.co.la.ca.us</a>. Your cooperation and support are greatly appreciated.

Billie Weiss, Director Injury and Violence Prevention Program

Administrator survey
The first questions ask about your job and where you work.

1.	Name of the f	facility/program where you work?	
2.	Is this a:	Hospital	
3.	What is your	position or title?POSITION OR TITLE	
		rosition or title	
4.	How many ye	ears have you been working at this facility/program in this job?	
		YEARS	
	ollowing questi y or program.	ons ask about intimate partner violence policies and procedures at yo	ur
5.	Does your fac	rility have a policy for screening victims of intimate partner violence Yes	(IPV)?
6.	Does the poli	Women only	
7.	•	Yes	
	/A. What ago	e groups are required to be screened for IPV?	
		AGE GROUPS	

8. Who usually does the screening? Is it:	Physicians,1 Nursing staff
	PLEASE SPECIFY:4

9. The following table lists some of the places in your facility/program where clients might be screened for intimate partner violence (IPV). Please tell us whether **intimate partner violence screening** occurs in these clinics or other areas.

Clinic Area	Yes	No	Do Not Know	Not Applicable
Emergency department?	1	2	3	4
Obstetrics and gynecology?	1	2	3	4
Labor and delivery?	1	2	3	4
Adolescent Medicine or Family Practice?	1	2	3	4
Outpatient department?	1	2	3	4
Urgent care?	1	2	3	4
Psychiatric unit?	1	2	3	4
Pediatrics?	1	2	3	4
Home visits?	1	2	3	4
Walk-in clinics?	1	2	3	4
Community outreach settings?	1	2	3	4
Other clinics or areas? PLEASE SPECIFY:	1	2	3	4

The next questions ask about the treatments and interventions	, if any,	that your	facility/program
provides for intimate partner violence (IPV).			

10. Are there written policies for	treating,	intervening,	and/or refe	erring for IPV?
_	Yes.	ANS	SWER Q11	1
	No	GO	ΓO Q 12	2
	Not	sureGO	TO Q 12	3

11. Things that are sometimes found in written policies on IPV are listed below. Please tell us whether the written policies at your facility/program include these things.

Does your program's policies:	Yes	No	Do not know
Define intimate partner violence (IPV)?	1	2	3
Describe how to intervene?	1	2	3
Describe how to document an intervention?	1	2	. 3
Describe how to refer victims?	1	2	3
Describe mandatory reporting procedures?	1	2	3
Require training on IPV for physicians?	Ţ	2	3
Require training on IPV for nursing staff?	1	2	3
Require training on IPV for other staff? WHO?	1	2	3
Require development of a safety plan?	1	2	3

12. Is there an IPV coordinator at your facility/program?	
Yes	1
No	2
Not sure	3
- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	

	Yes
13A. Is the completed form or	a copy included in the medical record?
	Yes1
	No
	TYOU SUITO
13B. Is the name and/or relati	onship of the alleged perpetrator recorded on the form?
	Yes, name only1
	Yes, relationship only2
	Yes, name and relationship3
	Neither one4
	Not sure5
13C. Does the form include a	hody man to record injuries?
15C. Does the form metude a	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3
	Not sure
13D. Does the form have a pl	ace to record referrals that were provided for the victim?
·	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3
12E Door the form include a	place to assess victim's safety?
13E. Does the form metade a	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3
	1100 5016
14.Does your facility/program offer I	PV training for staff?
	Yes1
	No2
	Not sureGO TO Q153
14A. Is training mandatory?	
- ·	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3

13. Does your facility/program have a standardized form that it uses to record information about known or suspected cases of intimate partner violence (IPV)?

	14B. Does your facility/prog	ram have ongoing training Yes		. 1		
		No				
		Not sure				
	14C. Are staff required to at					
		Yes				
		No				
		Not sure		3		
15 Ara	e there posters or brochures al	out IPV in your facility/pro	gram?			
	r constant	Yes		1		
		No		2		
		Not sure		3		
16. Sc IPV d	ome facilities and programs co	ollect data about IPV. Does	your fac	ility/pro	ogram collect	any
TT 1 W		YesGO TO Q	16A-D	1		
		NoGO TO Q	17	2		
NoGO TO Q 172 Not sureGO TO Q 173						
16A. Some of the kinds of kinds of data are collected		lata that are collected are listy your facility/program.	ited belov	w. Plea	se indicate w	hich
	Types of Data C	ollected	Yes	No	Not Sure	
	Number of clients screened	?	1	2	3	
	Number of IPV cases identi	fied?	1	2	3	
	Number of IPV cases repor	ted to law enforcement?	1	2	3	
	Not s 16C. Who is in charge of da	TO WHOM?	y/prograr	n?	2	
	141 111			12.77.000		
	16D. What is done with the	IPV data?				

	ne programs monitor the implementation of the IPV policies at their facilities; others do ow do you monitor IPV policies at your facility/program?
18.	In your opinion, what are some of your facility's (or program) strengths and/or weaknesses in implementing IPV policies?
Thank Injury	you very much for your time and please return your completed questionnaire to and Violence Prevention Program

### Staff Survey



THOMAS L. GARTHWAITE, M.D. Director and Chief Medical Officer

JONATHAN E. FIELDING, M.D., M.P.H. Director of Public Health and Health Officer

Office of Injury and Violence Prevention Program

BILLIE WEISS, M.P.H., Director 3530 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 800 Los Angeles, California 90005 TEL (213) 351-7888 • FAX (213) 351-2713

www.lapublichealth.org

March 5, 2004



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Gloria Molina First District

Yvonne Brathwaite Burke Second District

Zev Yaroslavsky Third District

Don Knabe
Fourth District

Michael D. Antonovich

The Injury and Violence Prevention Program was recently awarded a grant from the State to conduct strategic planning for **Intimate Partner Violence** (IPV) prevention. Intimate partner violence refers to any behavior within an intimate relationship that causes physical, psychological or sexual harm to those in the relationship and it does NOT include child abuse or elder abuse. The overall goal of the grant is to develop a Department of Health Services (DHS) five-year plan to reduce and prevent IPV throughout Los Angeles County (LAC).

As a part of the initial planning process, we are conducting a survey to gather information about current IPV policies and practices throughout LAC DHS healthcare facilities. Results will be analyzed as aggregate data to support the overall strategic planning process.

Please take a few minutes to fill out this questionnaire and return it to the Injury and Violence Prevention Program by xxxxx via county mail in the enclosed envelope or fax it to us at 213 351-2713. For more information or questions regarding this project or survey, please contact Billie Weiss, M.P.H. or Sung Hye Yu, Ph.D. at (213) 351-7888 or via email at <a href="mailto:bweiss@dhs.co.la.ca.us">bweiss@dhs.co.la.ca.us</a> or <a href="mailto:syu@dhs.co.la.ca.us">syu@dhs.co.la.ca.us</a>. Your cooperation and support are greatly appreciated.

Billie Weiss, Director
Injury and Violence Prevention Program

Staff surve
-------------

The first questions ask about your job and where you work.

1.	Name of the	facility/program where you work?
2.	Is this a:	Hospital
3.	What is you	r position or title?POSITION OR TITLE
4.	How many y	years have you been working at this facility/program in this job?YEARS
		tions ask about intimate partner violence (IPV) policies and procedures at m and your experiences with the IPV related practices.
5.	Does your fa partner viole	Accility/program have a policy for providing services to victims of intimate ence (IPV)?  Yes
	5A. ?	How familiar are you with IPV policies and procedures at your facility?  Familiar
6.	=	are of the standard countywide injury reporting form for reporting IPV? njuries by a Firearm or Assaultive or Abusive Conduct)
		YesANSWER Q 6A
	6A. During enforcemen	Yes1
		No

6B. If you have not us	sed this form, what is the reason for not using it?
	No IPV clients identified1
	Form is not easily available2
	Another form has replaced it
	Data is collected electronically4
	Other (PLEASE SPECIFY)
The following questions ask	about Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) mandating reporting laws.
7. Are you aware of the laws providers?	about IPV mandated reporting requirements for health care
	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3
8. How familiar are you with	IPV laws?
	Familiar1
	Somewhat familiar2
	Not familiar3
9. Are you a mandated report	
you a manado report	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure3
10 Is notient concept required	d to report IPV to law enforcement?
10. Is patient consent required	Yes1
	No2
	Not sure
	Not sure
The following questions ask a experiences.	about your familiarity with IPV in general and IPV training
11. How knowledgeable do	you feel about IPV such as definition, facts, types, and dynamics?
-	Knowledgeable1
	Somewhat knowledgeable2
	Not knowledgeable3
12. During your employment either onsite or offsite on IPV	with Los Angeles County, have you attended a training session /?
	Yes1
	No
	Not sureGO TO Q143

	12A. Was this IPV training mandatory?				
	YesGO TO Q12				
	NoGO TO Q13				
	Not sureGO TO Q13	3	3		
	12B. How frequently are you required to	attend IPV t	aining?		
	One time only				
	Every		YEARS		
	Not sure		99		
13 Tf	you ever attended a training session either onsite	or offsite on	IPV during	y vour emplo:	vment
	os Angeles County, please tell us whether the fo				
	V training session you last attended.				J
					•
	IPV training topics	Yes	No	Do Not Know	
	Dynamics of IPV	1	2	3	
	Mandatory reporting	1	2	3	
	Legal issues and options for victims of IPV	1	2	3	
	Clinical skills: Screening, Assessment,	1	2	3	
	Intervention, and Documentation				
	Community resources	1	2	3	
	Cultural considerations	1	2	3	
	Same gender abuse	1	2	3	
_			1.3.4. 1	c	
	nes your facility/program have a designated staff is of IPV?	member (or	unit) to wh	om you refer	
VICTIII	YesANSWER (	) 14A	1		
	NoGO TO Q 15.				
	Not sureGO TO Q 1				
	14A. Please indicate name and job title (or uni	t) of decima	ted staff me	ember to who	
	you refer victims of IPV.	i) or designa	icu stati iin	MIDOL TO WHO	111
15. D	oes your facility/program provide direct services		1		
	YesANSWER QI				
	Not sureGO TO	•			
	1101 0410	× × × · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

15A. Collaborating with community resources provides an important linkage to victims of intimate partner violence. Does your facility/program work with the following community agencies in providing services to victims of intimate partner violence?

Outside resources	Yes	No	Do Not Know
Local law enforcement?	1	2	3
Shelter for battered women?	1	2	3
Legal aid service agency?	1	2	3
Counseling service agency?	1	2	3
Others (PLEASE SPECIFY)	*		

15B. Health care providers often encounter barriers to providing adequate services to victims of intimate partner violence. Please check ALL that apply to you.

Barriers	Yes	No	Do Not Know
Not comfortable in discussing IPV with clients?	1	2	3
Belief that IPV is a private matter, not a health concern?	1	2	3
Lack of time?	1	2	3
Inadequate training on IPV?	1	2	3
Language barrier with clients?	1	2	3
Inadequate resources to help identified IPV victims?	1	2	3
Others (PLEASE, SPECIFY)			·····

16. Please write down any other concerns or training needs you have in dealing with victims of IPV.

Thank you very much for your time and please return your completed questionnaire to Injury and Violence Prevention Program

Appendix D Survey Analysis

# Appendix D: Survey Analysis

### Staff Survey:

Table 1: Staff Survey Respondents by Facility (N=823)

DHS Facility Category	Facility	Number of surveys data entered (%)
Hospitals (6)	Harbor UCLA	168 (20.5%)
	High Desert	86 (10.5%)
	LAC/USC	79 (9.6%)
	Rancho	39 (4.7%)
	Olive View	7 (0.8%)
	Martin Luther King/Drew	13 (1.5%)
	Sub-total for Hospitals	392 (47.6%)
Comprehensive Health Centers	El Monte	66 (8%)
(5)	Claude Hudson	46 (5.6%)
	H.Humphrey	52 (6.3%)
	Long Beach	14 (1.7%)
	Roybal	11 (1.4%)
	Sub-total for CHC	189 (23%)
Service Planning Areas (SPA1-	SPA 1&2	43 (5.2%)
8)	SPA 3&4	96 (11.7%)
,	SPA 5&6	50 (6.1%)
	SPA 7&8	25 (3%)
	Sub-total for SPA	214 (26%)
Public Health Program (2)	Nurse-Family Partnership	18 (2.2%)
- ',	Office of Women's Health	10 (1.2%)
	Sub-total for PHP	28 (3.4%)

Table 2. Staff Survey Respondents by Job classification (N=823)

Job classification	Number
Nurses	608 (74%)
Licensed	539
Unlicensed	69
Physicians & Dentists	126 (15%)
Social workers	33 (4%)
Others (Public health investigator,	56 (7%)
Community worker, Patient Resource	
worker)	

The following describes the responses to each staff survey question.

Q1: Does your facility have a policy for providing services to victims of intimate partner violence (IPV)?

Yes	447 (54%)
No	130 (16%)
Not sure	235 (29%)
No answer	11 (1%)
Total	823
	(100%)

Q2: How familiar are you with IPV policies and procedures at your facility?

Familiar	181 (39.5%)
Somewhat familiar	236 (51.5%)
Not at all familiar	41 (9%)
Total	458 (100%)

Q3: Are you aware of the standard countywide injury reporting form for reporting IPV (Report of Injuries by a Firearm or Assaultive or Abusive Conduct)?

Yes	338 (41%)
No	302 (36%)
Not sure	154 (19%)
No answer	29 (4%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q4: During the past 12 months, have you used this form to report IPV to local law enforcement?

Yes	48 (13.6%)
No	305 (86.4%)
Total	353 (100%)

Q5: If you have not used this for during the past 12 months, what is the reason for not using it?

No IPV patients identified	219 (74%)
Form is not easily available	10 (3%)
Reported by other assigned staff	30 (10%)
Other/no answer	38 (13%)
Total	297 (100%)

Q6: Are you aware of the laws about IPV mandated reporting requirements for health care providers?

Yes	532 (65%)
No	151 (18%)
Not sure	129 (16%)
No answer	11 (1%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q7: How familiar are you with IPV laws?

Familiar	180 (22%)
Somewhat familiar	360 (44%)
Not at all familiar	268 (32%)
No answer	15 (2%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q8: Are you a mandated reporter for IPV?

Yes	527 (64%)
No	113 (14%)
Not sure	173 (21%)
No answer	10 (1%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q9: Is patient consent required to report IPV to law enforcement?

Yes	93 (11%)
No	460 (56%)
Not sure	252 (31%)
No answer	18 (2%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q10: How knowledgeable do you feel about IPV such as definition, facts, types, and dynamics?

Knowledgeable	136 (16.5%)	
Somewhat	399 (48.5%)	
knowledgeable	-	
Not knowledgeable	282 (34%)	
No answer	6 (1%)	
Total	823 (100%)	

Q 11: During your employment with LAC have you attended an IPV training either onsite or offsite?

Yes	305 (37%)
No	400 (49%)
Not sure	111 (13%)
No answer	7 (1%)
Total	823 (100%)

Q12: Was this IPV training mandatory?

Yes	252 (79.5%)
No	36 (11.5%)
Not sure/no	29 (9%)
answer	
Total	317 (100%)

### Q13: If you ever attended a training session on IPV during your employment with LAC:

Topic	Yes
Mandatory reporting ever covered?	88% (268/305)
Dynamics of IPV ever covered?	84% (255/305)
Community resources ever covered?	78% (238/305)
Clinical skills on screening assessment intervention and documentation ever covered?	77% (234/305)
Cultural considerations ever covered?	76% (231/305)
Legal issues and options for victims of IPV ever covered?	74% (223/305)
Same gender abuse ever covered?	64% (195/305)

# Q 14: Does your facility have a designated staff member or unit to whom you refer victims of IPV?

Yes	241 (29.5%)
No	243 (30%)
Not sure/no	333 (40.5%)
answer	
Total	823 (100%)

## Q 15: Perceived barriers to providing adequate services to victims of IPV:

Perceived Barriers by DHS health care providers	Yes
Inadequate training on IPV a barrier?	190
Language barrier with clients a barrier?	163
Inadequate resources to help identified IPV victims a barrier?	157
Is lack of time a barrier?	136
Not comfortable in discussing IPV with clients	72
Believe that IPV is a private matter and not a health concern	32

# Administrator/Managers Survey

Table 1: Administrators/Managers Survey Respondents by Facility (N=102)

DHS Facility Category	Facility	Number of surveys data entered (%)
Hospitals (6)	Harbor UCLA	13 (12.5%)
	High Desert	8 (8%)
	LAC/USC	13 (12.5%)
	Rancho	1 (1%)
	Olive View	1 (1%)
	Martin Luther King/Drew	3 (3%)
	Sub-total for Hospitals	39 (38%)
Comprehensive Health Centers	El Monte	6 (6%)
(5)	Claude Hudson	5 (5%)
	H.Humphrey	2 (2%)
	Long Beach	1 (1%)
	Roybal	7 (7%)
	Sub-total for CHC	21 (21%)
Service Planning Areas (SPA1-	SPA 1&2	4 (4%)
8)	SPA 3&4	17 (17%)
	SPA 5&6	9 (9%)
	SPA 7&8	10 (10%)
	Sub-total for SPA	40 (40%)
Public Health Program (2)	Nurse-Family Partnership	1 (1%)
	Office of Women's Health	1 (1%)
	Sub-total for PHP	2 (2%)

Table 2: Administrators/Managers Survey Respondents by Job classification (N=102)

Job classification	Number (%)
Nurses	53 (52%)
Physicians & Dentists	29 (28%)
Social workers	4 (4%)
Others (Public health investigator supervisor, hospital or clinic administrator, Medical Director, Area Medical Director,	16 (16%)
Department chairs)	

The following describes the responses to each administrator/managers survey question.

Q1: Does your facility have a policy for screening victims of IPV?

Yes	47 (45%)
No	35 (34%)
Not sure	22 (21%)
Total	104 (100%)

Q2: If so, does the policy require that both men and women are to be screened?

Women only	19 (40.5%)
Both women and men	20 (42.5%)
Not sure	8 (17%)
Total	47 (100%)

Q3: Does the policy require that certain age groups are to be screened?

Yes	22 (47%)
No	17 (36%)
Not sure/no	8 (17%)
answer	
Total	47 (100%)

Q4: Are there written policies for treating, intervening, and referring for IPV?

Yes	46 (44%)
No	34 (33%)
Not sure/no	24 (23%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

Q5: Regarding IPV policy at your facility:

Does your IPV policy	Yes
Define IPV?	76% (35/46)
Describe how to intervene?	80% (37/46)
Describe how to document an intervention?	65% (30/46)
Describe how to refer victims of IPV?	83% (38/46)
Describe mandatory reporting procedures?	87% (40/46)
Require IPV training for physicians?	33% (15/46)
Require IPV training for nursing staff?	50% (23/46)
Require development of a safety plan?	24% (11/46)

Q6: Is there an IPV coordinator at your facility or program?

Yes	18 (17%)
No	62 (60%)
Not sure/no	24 (23%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

Q7: Does your facility have a standardized form that it uses to record information about known or suspected cases of IPV?

Yes	30 (29%)
No	48 (46%)
Not sure/no	26 (25%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

Q8: Does your facility offer IPV training for staff?

Yes	33 (32%)
No	46 (44%)
Not sure/no	25 (24%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

Q9: Is IPV training mandatory?

Yes	19 (58%)
No	6 (18%)
Not sure/no	8 (24%)
answer	
Total	33 (100%)

Q10: Are there posters or brochures about IPV in your facility?

Yes	29 (28%)
No	56 (54%)
Not sure/no	19 (18%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

# Q11: Does your facility collect IPV data?

Yes	22 (21%)
No	47 (45%)
Not sure/no	35 (34%)
answer	
Total	104 (100%)

# Q 12: If your facility collects IPV data,

Does it include:	Yes
Number of IPV cases identified	73% (16/22)
Number of clients screened	64% (14/22)
Number of IPV cases reported to law enforcement	55% (12/22)

#### ANALYSIS OF DHS DV POLICY CONTENT

	High Desert Hospital	Harbor- UCLA Med	MLK/ Drew Med	Rancho Los Amigos	SPA 1 & 2	Olive View	Long Beach CHC	Roybal CHC	El Monte CHC	Humphrey Comp Health Ctr
!	Updated 05/2002	Center Updated 01/2002	Center Updated 10/1996	Updated 05/2003	Updated 09/2003	Updated 01/2002	Updated 12/2002	Updated 04/2002	Updated 05/2003	Updated 02/2003
1.) Screening Policy for IPV	Yes, but	Yes	Yes	No	Yes, but no	Yes, Limited	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
victims? 2.) Screening men & women?	question Yes	No	No	No	question Yes	Yes	?	No	Yes	No
3.) Screening certain age groups	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
4.) Written IPV policies?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
4a. Define IPV? 4b. How to	No Yes	Yes Yes	Yes No	No Yes	Yes Yes	No Yes	Yes Yes	No Yes	No No	Yes Yes
intervene?  4c. How to document an intervention?	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	?	Yes	Yes
4d. How to refer victims?	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
4e. Describe mandatory reporting	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
procedures?  4f. Require IPV training for physicians?	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
4g. Require IPV training for nursing staff?	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
4h. Require development of a safety plan?	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	?
5.) Standardized form to record IPV information?	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
5a. Does form include perpetrator name/ relationship	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
5b. Include body map to record injuries?	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
5c. Include a place to record referrals	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
5d. Include a place to assess victim's safety?	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
% of questions answered affirmatively	59%	71%	24%	41%	71%	41%	65%	65%	53%	59%

- 1) Only four policies were updated in 2003, five were updated in 2002, one in 2000, and MLK/Drew was not updated since 1996.
- Only three policies were described as clear, or moderately clear. However, even those stated that the policies needed to incorporate training. Also, a need for an index was mentioned a few times.

- 3) 80% (8/10) had a screening policy for victims of IPV, but at least three were limited (e.g. excluding screening questions).
- 4) 40% (4/10) specifically required screening for both men and women.
- 5) 20% (2/10) specifically required screening for certain age groups.
- 6) 80% (8/10) have written policies for IPV.
- 7) 50% (5/10) define IPV.
- 8) 80% (8/10) describe how to intervene.
- 9) 70% (7/10) describe how to document an intervention.
- 10) 90% (9/10) describe how to refer victims of IPV.
- 11) 100% describe mandatory reporting procedures.
- 12) 10% (1/10) specifically require training on IPV for physicians.
- 13) 10% (1/10) specifically require training on IPV for nursing staff.
- 14) 30% (3/10) require development of a safety plan.
- 15) 80% (8/10) have a standardized form to record information about IPV. 55% use a standard DHS form, although 50% of those also include their own, in-house form. 46% are using their own form (although 60% of those also use the standard DHS form). 30% were not identified.
- 16) 80% (8/10) of the forms include the name and relationship of the alleged perpetrator.
- 17) 10% (1/10) of the forms include a body map to record injuries.
- 18) 60% (6/10) of the forms include a place to record referrals.
- 19) 30% (3/10) include a place to assess a victim's safety.
- 20) Not one policy had all of the components that we were reviewing.
- 21) The average percentage of affirmative responses was 55%. Seventy percent responded to more than one-half of the questions affirmatively. The range of responses went from 24% to 71%.

#### 22) Strengths:

- a. Most policies had:
  - i. Screening policy (80%)
  - ii. Written policy specifically addressing IPV (80%)
  - iii. Description of how to intervene, and how to document the intervention (80%, 70%)

- iv. Description of how to refer victims of IPV (90%)
- v. Mandatory reporting procedures (100%)
- vi. Standardized form to record information about IPV, which included space to record the name and relationship of the alleged perpetrator (80%, 80%)

#### 23) Weaknesses

- a. Most policies did NOT:
  - i. Specifically mandate screening for men and women (60%)
  - ii. Require screening for certain age groups (80%)
  - iii. Define IPV (50%)
  - iv. Specifically require training for physicians or nursing staff (90%)
  - v. Require development of a safety plan (70%)
  - vi. Include a body map to record injuries (90%)
  - vii. Include place to assess a victim's safety (70%)
- b. 60% of the policies have not been updated since January 2003.
- c. Only three policies (of 10) were described as clear or moderately clear, and those expressed a need to include training.

Appendix E SWOT Analysis

Themes State and		The state of the s	
· ·,.	Strengths (Internal Forces)	Themes	Opportunities (External Forces)
,	<ul> <li>Mandatory reporting policy and</li> </ul>	Standardized IPV	- Create a DHS policy and procedure on IPV (4)
Hospital	procedures (3)	policy and	<ul> <li>Develop countywide standardized screening,</li> </ul>
Policies on	<ul> <li>Awareness of mandatory reporting (1)</li> </ul>	procedure	documentation and reporting forms (6)
IPV .	- Written hospital IPV policies (2)		
		User-friendly	<ul> <li>Cross referencing and/or consolidating multiple</li> </ul>
	Staff and administrators are used to	policies and	policies and procedures to make all policies and
Infrastructure	rollowing policies and procedures (4)	procedures	procedures user friendly (3)
	- Intrastructure in place to implement a		- Make standardized IPV policies and forms
	program (1)		available on MyPHD, have search capacity on MyPHD (4)
SHQ	- DHS provides a large amount of		- Electronic standardized screening form for all
Infrastructure	diverse services to the public (2)		patients aged 13 and up, could increase reporting
•	- DHS has infrastructure in place (1)		because of confidentiality (2)
paz	- Most agencies have a standardized	Training	Use outside experts to train employees (3)
Form	form to record into on LPV (4)		- Annual training for staff (2)
			- Practical training on reporting and documenting (1)
Committed	<ul> <li>Staff and admin want to be seen as</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Standardized training for county (1)</li> </ul>
Staff	helpful to patients affected by IPV (3)		
•	<ul> <li>Caring, knowledgeable, committed</li> </ul>	Partnerships	- Build internal partnerships (e.g. among county
	employees (1)		entities, such as law enforcement, the district
	<ul> <li>Willingness to address the issue (1)</li> </ul>		attorney's office, shelter agencies, mental health,
ı I			health care agencies) (5)
	<ul> <li>PHNs have referral procedures (1)</li> </ul>		- Build external partnerships (e.g. among non-county
- Procedures -	<ul> <li>Staff willingness to refer to other</li> </ul>		entities, such as church groups, non-profits, IPV
	agencies (3)		agencies, human rights campaigns, unions) (6)
			<ul> <li>Partner with private sector groups in the areas of</li> </ul>
Trained Staff	<ul> <li>Large number of employees trained and knowledgeable (3)</li> </ul>		data collection, training, etc. (1)
		IPV Team	- Formation of IPV teams, like sexual assault
			response teams, which are trained and present in each facility (3)

Themes	Weaknesses (Internal Forces)	Themes	Threats (External Forces)
Staff awareness,	- Most employees are not aware of standardized forms (3)	Shortage of	- Shortage of resources (personal
preparedness to	- Staff uncomfortable asking IPV screening questions (1)	personal and	and monetary resources) (1)
screen, report	- Training on IPV is not up-to-date, comprehensive, or	county	<ul> <li>Budget cuts (7)</li> </ul>
and refer	consistent, and only reaches a limited number of	resources	<ul> <li>Program cuts (1)</li> </ul>
	employees (6)		- Staff cuts (1)
	Lack of good research regarding what does and does not		- Overworked staff, overloaded (1)
	work, with respect to training (3)	·	•
	- Staff are overloaded with many policies, procedures and	Systematic	<ul> <li>County bureaucracy (3)</li> </ul>
2-1-1	manuals (3)	threats	<ul> <li>Consolidation of department and</li> </ul>
	- Staff are overloaded, short of time for screening,		services
	interventions, and training (2)		
	<ul> <li>Need clarification of resources (1)</li> <li>Some staff are incompetent, new (3)</li> </ul>	Privacy	- Privacy issues (2)
			- Cultural issues (3)
Lack of	- Currently no DHS IPV policy (3)	Sociological	- Religious barriers (2)
infrastructure to	- No clear definition of IPV (vs. DV, child/elder abuse) (3)	Threats	- Gender issues (Women still
respond to IPV	- No entity to specifically address IPV, need a department		invisible, women's issues
	such as DCFS (2)		unrecognized) (1)
	Geographical location buildings distributed all over the	Coordination	. Lack of communication and
	place (1)		coordination between IPV-related
	•		agencies (i.e. law enforcement,
Administrative			shelters, legal, etc). (4)
Accountability	- Lack of administrative accountability (1)	ş	•
;		Prevention	<ul> <li>Lack of prevention programs to</li> </ul>
Collaboration/			address the needs of perpetrators
Communication			(i.e. treatment for batterers) (2)
	between related agencies (law enforcement, shelters,	1	,
	legal, etc) (5)	Political	<ul> <li>Politicians reluctant to address</li> </ul>
		agendas	issues of IPV, for fear of affecting
Вигеанстасу,	- Planning process to develop IPV policy is too slow (2)		election outcomes (3)
slow processes	- Political changes impede the process (1)		- Changes in political environment,
F			which alter goals and slow
Prevention	- Lack of prevention programs, lack of prevention money		processes (2)